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STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIRMAN
ETEHREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors” and each a “Director”) of Vico International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Current
Period”).

In 2023, the Group successfully maintained stable operations
in the sales of diesel, lubricant oil, and fleet card services in
Hong Kong, benefiting from the gradual economic recovery
and increased logistics demand following the reopening of the
China border. After a comprehensive assessment of market
demand and careful consideration of social consumption
trends and economic restructuring in Hong Kong, the Group
strategically resumed domestic trading volumes of diesel.
Under the current business strategies, the Group achieved a
total revenue of approximately HK$1,595.1 million and a gross
profit of approximately HK$48.3 million this year.

However, as we look forward to 2024 and 2025, we must
acknowledge the economic uncertainties that lie ahead. Hong
Kong’s economic landscape presents several challenges,
including reduced consumer spending and a sluggish property
market. These factors have created a complex business
environment that demands a strategic and cautious approach.

Despite these challenges, the business prospects for our
Group remain cautiously optimistic. We anticipate fluctuations in
demand for petrochemical products, especially in the industrial
and commercial sectors. To navigate these uncertainties,
we will continue to focus on product quality and exceptional
customer service, which have been the cornerstones of our
success.

We are committed to adapting to the changing market
conditions and seizing opportunities that align with our long-
term growth strategy. Our resilience and proactive measures
will enable us to maintain our competitive edge and deliver
sustainable value to our shareholders.
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my heartfelt
gratitude to our employees for their unwavering dedication, our
customers for their continued support, and our shareholders
for their trust in our vision. Together, we will strive to overcome
the challenges and achieve greater milestones in the coming
years. Thank you for your ongoing support.

HUI Pui Sing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEN R DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the distribution of third-
party branded petrochemicals, the sales of the self-branded
lubricant oil and provides fleet card services in Hong Kong.
The petrochemical products of the Group include (i) diesel; (ii)
lubricant oil (including self-branded lubricant oil and third-party
branded lubricant oil); and (iii) other petrochemicals such as
bitumen.

The Group sourced semi-finished lubricant oil in bulk volume
and finished lubricant oil from overseas suppliers for the in-
house blending and repackaging into wholesale and retail
packs for sales in Hong Kong.

The Group is also an authorized reseller of fleet cards. As at 31
March 2024, the Group operated a total number of 53,406 fleet
card accounts (2023: 56,193 fleet card accounts).

Leveraging on the Group’s experience and competitive
strengths, for the Current Period, the Group’s revenue,
gross profit, and net profit were approximately HK$1,595.1
million, HK$48.3 million, and HK$16.9 million, respectively
representing an increase of 56.8%, increase of 8.2%, and
increase of 92.5%, respectively as compared with the year
ended 31 March 2023 (the “Corresponding Period”). The
increase in profit for the Current Period was attributable to
the increase in revenue, mainly from sales of diesel upon the
reopening of the China border.

In 2023, the Group successfully maintained stable operations
in the sales of diesel, lubricant oil, and fleet card services in
Hong Kong, benefiting from the gradual economic recovery
and increased logistics demand following the reopening of the
China border. After a comprehensive assessment of market
demand and careful consideration of social consumption
trends and economic restructuring in Hong Kong, the Group
strategically resumed domestic trading volumes of diesel.
Under the current business strategies, the Group achieved a
total revenue of approximately HK$1,595.1 million and a gross
profit of approximately HK$48.3 million this year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

The business prospects for the Group remain cautiously
optimistic amidst the backdrop of Hong Kong’s economic
challenges. With reduced consumer spending and a sluggish
property market, the business environment demands
a strategic approach. While fluctuations in demand for
petrochemical products are expected, particularly in industrial
and commercial sectors, our focus on product quality and
customer service remains steadfast.

Despite the economic uncertainties, the Group is committed to
navigating through strategic planning, operational efficiency,
and innovation. By maintaining high standards and adapting
to market dynamics, we aim to deliver consistent value to our
stakeholders. Our resilience and dedication to excellence
position us well to weather the challenges and seize
opportunities for growth in the evolving economic landscape.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Current Period, the Group’s revenue amounted to
HK$1,595.1 million, which increased by 56.8% as compared
to that of HK$1,017.0 million during the Corresponding Period.
The increase in revenue was mainly due to the quantity of oil
sold increase during the Current Period.

Sales of diesel

Our revenue from sales of diesel represents the sales of our
diesel products, which mainly include automotive diesel and
industrial diesel. For the Current Period and the Corresponding
Period, our revenue generated from the sales of diesel
amounted to approximately HK$1,511.5 million and HK$937.7
million respectively, representing 94.8% and 92.2% of the total
revenue respectively.

The sales quantity of diesel oil increased by approximately
99.7% from 135.0 million litres for the Corresponding Period to
269.7 million litres for the Current Period, primarily attributed to
the heightened demand in the logistics sector, benefiting from
the reopening of the China border.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEFRE DM

Sales of lubricant oil

Our revenue from lubricant oil mainly represents the sales
of lubricant oil, which mainly include (i) the sales of our self-
branded lubricant oil, namely “AMERICQO”, “Dr. Lubricant”
and “U-LUBRICANT"; and (ii) the sales of third-party branded
lubricant oil. For the Current Period and the Corresponding
Period, our revenue from the sales of lubricant oil amounted
to approximately HK$44.4 million and HK$36.9 million
respectively, representing 2.8% and 3.6% of the total revenue
respectively.

Our sales quantity of lubricant oil amounted to approximately
1.7 million litres and 2.7 million litres for the Current Period
and the Corresponding Period respectively, representing a
decrease of approximately 37.0%.

Provision of fleet cards service

Our income from the provision of fleet cards service is
recognised on a net basis, based on the difference between
(a) gross proceeds received and receivables from fleet card
holders; and (b) gross amounts paid and payable to oil
companies. The gross proceeds received and receivables
from fleet card holders represent the pump price less the fleet
card discount offered by our Group to fleet card holders. Our
fleet card customers used our fleet cards primarily for the
purchase of diesel and petrol at network gas stations.

For the Current Period and the Corresponding Period, our
revenue generated from the fleet cards service amounted
to approximately HK$33.5 million and HK$32.4 million
respectively, representing 2.1% and 3.2% of the total revenue
respectively.

Sales of others

Our revenue from other products mainly represents the sales
of bitumen and kerosene. For the Current Period and the
Corresponding Period, our revenue from the sales of others
amounted to approximately HK$5.7 million and HK$10.0 million
respectively, representing 0.4% and 1.0% of the total revenue
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales primarily consists of diesel costs, lubricant oil
costs, other petrochemicals costs and sales commissions. Our
purchase cost for diesel and third-party lubricant oil depends
on the domestic purchase price offered by our oil suppliers,
with reference to the price index such as Europe Brent spot
crude price.

For the Current Period and the Corresponding Period, our
cost of sales amounted to approximately HK$1,546.7 million
and HK$972.3 million respectively, representing an increase
of approximately 59.1%. The trend of movement of our cost
of sales for the Current Period was generally in line with the
revenue.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represented the Group’s revenue less cost
of sales. The Group recorded an increase in gross profit by
approximately HK$3.6 million or approximately 8.2% from
approximately HK$44.7 million for the Corresponding Period
to approximately HK$48.3 million for the Current Period. The
Group’s gross profit margin decreased from 4.4% for the
Corresponding Period to 3.0% for the Current Period. The
Group’s selling price is broadly in line with the movement of oil
price. However, the gross profit margin does not fluctuate at
the same level as Company aimed to lower profit margin, but
quicker turnover during the year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of truck
drivers’ costs and benefits and depreciation. Selling and
distribution expenses decreased by approximately HK$1.8
million or 27.4% to HK$4.7 million for the Current Period from
HK$6.4 million for the Corresponding Period. The decrease
was mainly due to the drop in salaries & allowances during the
year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEFRE DM

Administrative and operating expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$5.5
million or 18.8%, from approximately HK$29.2 million for
the Corresponding Period to approximately HK$23.7 million
for the Current Period, primarily due to the reversal in the
impairment allowance of trade receivables. The settlement of
trade receivables from cross-border truck drivers has been
recovered and was returning to normal.

Finance costs

Our finance costs mainly consist of the interest on our interest-
bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Finance costs
decreased by approximately HK$0.6 million or 3.8% to HK$1.5
million for the Current Period from HK$1.5 million for the
Corresponding Period, primarily due to the completion of some
finance lease arrangements.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense increased by approximately HK$0.3
million or 7.3% from approximately HK$4.1 million for the
Corresponding Period to approximately HK$4.4 million for the
Current Period. The increase due to the rise in profit subject to
income tax for the year.

Profit for the Current Period

Net profit for the Current Period increased by approximately
HK$8.1 million or 92.5% from approximately HK$8.8 million for
the Corresponding Period to approximately HK$16.9 million for
the Current Period, and the Group’s net profit margin increased
from approximately 0.9% for the Corresponding Period to
1.1% for the Current Period. The increase in the Group’s net
profit was minimal. There was only a slight improvement in the
Company’s overall profitability compared to Corresponding
Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of 31 full time
employees (As at 31 March 2023: 31 full time employees). The
Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practice. The remuneration
packages are subject to review on a regular basis.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Current Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2024 Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) of the
Company is scheduled to be held on 11 September 2024. For
the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed during
the period from 6 September 2024 to 11 September 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of share(s) of
the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for attending
and voting at the AGM, all transfer document(s), accompanied
by the relevant share certificate(s), must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited of 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 5 September 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group had no significant investment, material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries during the Current Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEFRE DM

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group finances its operations primarily through cash
generated from operating activities and interest-bearing
bank borrowings. The Group recorded net current assets of
approximately HK$92.2 million as at 31 March 2024, compared
to approximately HK$65.7 million as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s current assets amounted to
approximately HK$142.0 million (2023: HK$120.3 million) of
which approximately HK$34.2 million (2023: HK$32.7 million)
was bank balances, approximately HK$90.3 million (2023:
HK$67.2 million) was trade and other receivables. The Group’s
current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$49.8 million
(2023: HK$54.6 million), including trade and other payables in
the amount of approximately HK$10.4 million (2023: HK$8.1
million), bank borrowings in the amount of approximately
HK$34.4 million (2023: HK$43.8 million) and income tax
payable in the amount of approximately HK$4.2 million (2023:
HK$1.0 million). The current ratio (which was calculated by
dividing current assets by current liabilities) was 2.9 as at
31 March 2024 (2023: 2.2). The gearing ratio (which was
calculated based on the total debt and lease liabilities divided
by total equity multiplied by 100%) was 24.2% as at 31 March
2024 (2023: 28.4%).

Capital structure

For the Current Period, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$220.0 million. There has been no change in
the capital structure of the Group during the Current Period.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group had issued a
letter of guarantee through the banking facilities granted, to a
supplier amounting to HK$4,000,000. The facilities are secured
by corporate guarantee of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group pledged its leasehold land
and building of HK$119,008,000 and investment property
of HK$7,197,000 respectively (2023: HK$64,613,000 and
HK$67,337,000 respectively) to secure its bank borrowings.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk in respect
of HKD against USD as long as these currencies are pegged.
The transactions and monetary assets denominated in USD are
minimal, the Group considers there have no significant foreign
exchange risk in respect of USD.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had not entered into any
arrangements to hedge its foreign currency risk. The Group’s
operating cash flow is not exposed to foreign exchange
fluctuation risks.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERENREEEBBEFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. HUI Pui Sing (§F7115%), aged 68, Chairman

Mr. Hui Pui Sing (“Mr. Hui”) was appointed as a Director on 24
March 2017 and was re-designated as an executive Director
on 23 June 2017. Mr. Hui is the founder of our Group, the
Chairman of the Board and the Nomination Committee of the
Company, a director of Carmen Logistics Limited (“Carmen
Logistics”), Grand Wealthy Holdings Limited (“Grand
Wealthy”), Yee Sing Hong Petroleum Chemicals Company
Limited (“Yee Sing Hong”) and Yee Sing Logistics Company
Limited (“Yee Sing Logistics”) and the general manager
of Yee Sing Hong. He is primarily responsible for corporate
strategic planning and overall business development,
management of our Group and decision making, and business
development strategies. From 1977, he worked as an assistant
in a company the principal business of which is the selling of
liquefied petroleum gas and kerosene. In 1977, he established
a company the principal business of which is the sale of
hydrocarbon oils and in 2002, he established Yee Sing Hong.
He has over 52 years of experience in the sales and distribution
of diesel, lubricant oil and other petrochemical products and
over 20 years of experience in the processing and distribution
of self-branded lubricant oil and other petrochemical products
and the promotion of fleet cards. Mr. Hui is a director of Max
Fortune Holdings Limited (“Max Fortune”), the controlling
shareholder of the Company. He is the spouse of Ms. Tong
Man Wah (“Ms. Tong"), and the father of Mr. Hui Yip Ho Eric
(“Mr. Eric Hui").
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. TONG Man Wah (58 %), aged 62, Executive Director

Ms. Tong was appointed as a Director on 24 March 2017 and
was re-designated as an executive Director on 23 June 2017.
Ms. Tong is a director of Billion Faith (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Billion Faith”), Carmen Logistics, Grand Wealthy, Tien Fung
Hong Holdings Limited (“Tien Fung Hong”) and Yee Sing
Hong and the administration manager of Yee Sing Hong and
Yee Sing Logistics. She is primarily responsible for overseeing
the administration and developing strategies in relation to
distribution, brand building and supplier relationships of our
Group. She has over 39 years of experience in the sales and
distribution of diesel, lubricant oil and other petrochemical
products. She worked in a company established by Mr. Hui
whose principal business is the sale of hydrocarbon oils since
1985, responsible for the operations of the sale and distribution
of petrochemical products and thereafter continued to
assist Mr. Hui in the sale and distribution of diesel and other
petrochemical products of the Group. She graduated from St.
Marino Secondary School in 1980. She is the spouse of Mr. Hui
and the mother of Mr. Eric Hui.

Mr. HUI Yip Ho, Eric (FF % %), aged 33, Chief Executive
Officer

Mr. Eric Hui was appointed as a Director on 24 March 2017
and was re-designated as an executive Director on 23 June
2017. Mr. Eric Hui is a director of Tien Fung Hong, Yee Sing
Hong and Yee Sing Logistics and the general manager of
Carmen Logistics, Yee Sing Logistics, Yee Sing Hong, Grand
Wealthy, Billion Faith and Tien Fung Hong. Mr. Eric Hui is the
Chief Executive Officer of our Group and a member of the
Remuneration committee of the Company. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the operation of our fleet cards
business in Hong Kong and our Group’s overall corporate
management and business development strategies. He
joined our Group in 2013 and has 11 years of experience in
the promotion of fleet cards and the sales and distribution
of diesel, lubricant oil and other petrochemical products. He
received a Bachelor of Business Administration (finance)
degree from the Southern Methodist University in August 2013
and a master degree of finance from the Polytechnic University
of Hong Kong in March 2017. He is the holder of the Estate
Agent Licence granted by the Estate Agents Authority in
February 2017. Mr. Eric Hui is a director of Max Fortune. He is
the son of Mr. Hui and Ms. Tong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERENEEEBBEFRE

Mr. KONG Man Ho ((I X ), aged 39, Marketing Director

Mr. Kong Man Ho (“Mr Kong”) was appointed as an executive
Director on 23 June 2017. Mr. Kong is the marketing manager
of Carmen Logistics, Yee Sing Logistics, Yee Sing Hong,
Grand Wealthy, Billion Faith and Tien Fung Hong and the
marketing director of our Group. He is primarily responsible
for overseeing the sales and marketing strategies of our
Group. Mr. Kong obtained a Bachelor of Commerce degree
from McMaster University in June 2008. Before joining our
Group in January 2013, Mr. Kong worked as a consultant, then
promoted to senior consultant and subsequently promoted to
wealth management advisor and senior wealth management
advisor of Convoy Financial Services Limited, where he
was responsible for the promotion of financial services
and products. He has 10 years of experience in sales and
marketing and the promotion of fleet cards. From 2013 to June
2017, he was the holder of the Technical Representatives
Licence granted by the Professional Insurance Brokers
Association, the Registered MPF Subsidiary Intermediary
granted by the Mandatory Provident Schemes Authority
and a representative licensed to carry out type 1 (dealing in
securities) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance.

1 6 Vico International Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2023/2024
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. WONG Chun Man (£ & 3X), aged 48, Non-executive
Director

Mr. Wong Chun Man (“Mr. Wong”) was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 1 April 2019.

Mr. Wong obtained his bachelor’s degree in business
administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
1999. He has more than 23 years of experience in the field of
finance. He has attained the professional qualifications of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and Chartered Financial
Analyst.

Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of
Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited (stock code: 1660)
from March 2018 to March 2024. Mr. Wong was an executive
director of Fullwealth International Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1034) from January 2021 to May 2023 and a non-
executive director of TOMO Holdings Limited (stock code:
6928) from July 2021 to February 2023. The above companies
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREAEEEBEHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(“INED”)

Mr. CHAN Ching Sum (BR BUR

Mr. Chan Ching Sum (“Mr. Chan”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 April 2020 and
a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee. Mr. Chan graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist
University with a first class honor in bachelor of Journalism
and minor in Religions and Philosophy in 2007, and obtained
a master’s degree in Finance (Investment Management) from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2016. Mr. Chan has
over 15 years’ experience in financial media and commentary
field, and is currently working in Eddid Securities and Futures
Limited, which is a licensed institution under Securities
and Futures Commission (SFC), as an executive director.
He is responsible for retail sales, marketing and corporate
communications in the institution. Mr. Chan is a responsible
officer under SFC, who is eligible to perform certain types of
regulated activities, including Type 1 (dealing in securities),
Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 5 (advising on future contracts) regulated
activities. Mr. Chan has several professional qualifications
in accountancy. He is an International Affiliate of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountant (HKICPA), a member of
Institute of Public Accountant (IPA), Australia and Associate of
Institute of Financial Accountant (IFA), UK.

), aged 44, INED

Mr. LEUNG Ho Chi (3% 7%), aged 49, INED

Mr. Leung Ho Chi (“Mr. Leung”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 April 2019 and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the chairman of
each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company.

Mr. Leung obtained his bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
1996 and a master’s degree in corporate governance from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2011.

1 8 Vico International Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2023/2024
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He has over 26 years
of experience in audit, accounting and finance. Mr. Leung was a
company secretary and a finance manager of TOMO Holdings
Limited (HKEx stock code: 6928) from July 2021 to May 2023
and from August 2021 to April 2023 respectively. He served
as the financial controller of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited
(HKEx stock code: 722) from April 2019 to October 2020. He
had also worked as finance director and financial controller in
Hong Kong subsidiaries of multiple multinational advertising
and public relations companies listed on The New York Stock
Exchange and The London Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung was an
independent non-executive director of Fullwealth International
Group Holdings Limited (HKEx stock code: 1034) from January
2021 to June 2021.

Ms. NG Wing Sze Vince (2% 2), aged 31, INED

Ms. Ng Wing Sze Vince (“Ms. Ng”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 March 2024 and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee. Ms. Ng obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 2015. She is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW).

Ms. Ng started her career providing assurance services,
including providing audit services for corporations in the
logistics and consumer industries. Ms. Ng has over 9 years
of experience in both management consulting and financial
industry roles and is currently working as a manager in a
consulting firm. Her management consulting expertise spans
large-scale finance transformation, target operating model
design, go-to-market strategies, cost optimization, merger
integration, and regulatory change programs. She also has
experience managing global and regional scale projects,
including strategic goals alignment with stakeholders across
diverse business functions.

In addition, Ms. Ng has in-house financial industry experience
working as a corporate strategic development manager in a
financial institution. Her experience encompasses executing
large-scale strategic projects, such as building a market
expansion strategy in the Greater Bay Area and fostering
strategic partnerships with banks and technology companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERENEEEBBEFRE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Kit Yi (&’2), aged 63, is the accountant of our
Group. She is primarily responsible for overseeing accounting
activities and our Group’s overall financial reporting. She
joined our Group in February 2002 and has over 37 years
of experience in auditing and accounting. Before joining
our Group, she worked for Wing Hing Motor & Pump Co.
as its account clerk from July 1982 to December 1986.
From September 1988 to March 1989, she worked for Sze
Tung Weaving Factory Ltd. as its assistant accountant.
From April 1991 to February 1994, she worked for Datacard
Toppan Moore Ltd. as its account clerk. She received a
certificate for proficiency in the second level single subject
of book-keeping and accounts from the London Chamber of
Commerce and Industry in 1994, was awarded the diploma in
accounting studies from the Hong Kong School of Commerce
in September 2006, and completed the HKIAAT Accounting
Technician Examinations Preparatory Programme Paper 6
Hong Kong Business Law course offered by The University of
Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing Education
in June 2008.

Ms. Lee Choi Ping (FF# %), aged 44, is the operation manager
of our Group since November 2014 and is primarily responsible
for the general operation of our Group’s fleet card, diesel and
lubricant oil business. She has over 22 years of experience in
retail business operation. Before joining our Group, she worked
for Belle Worldwide Limited as its sales from December 1996
and was promoted to senior shop manager at the time of her
resignation in June 2014. She completed her form 5 secondary
school education at Beacon College in June 1996.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Sze Ting (FR:¥1%) was appointed as company
secretary of the Company on 24 June 2020. Ms. Chan is a
director of the corporate services division of Tricor Services
Limited, a global professional services provider specialising in
integrated business, corporate and investor services. Ms. Chan
has over 18 years of experience in the corporate secretarial
field and has been providing professional corporate services to
Hong Kong listed companies as well as multi-national, private
and offshore companies. Ms. Chan is a Chartered Secretary, a
Chartered Governance Professional and a Fellow of both The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Ms. Chan holds a
bachelor of laws degree from the University of London.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERBE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the seventh Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) report published by the Company presenting the
achievements in promoting sustainable development of the
Company and its subsidiaries and our performance of social
and governance. In keeping with the spirit of creating long-term
value for our customers and stakeholders, the Company has
placed considerable emphasis on sustainable development.
The ESG report elaborates on the various work of the Group
in fully implementing the principle of sustainable development
and its performance of social and governance.

Scope of Report

The ESG report covers our sustainability performance as
well as the initiatives of our head offices and sales of diesel,
provision of fleet cards service, sales of lubricant oil segments
for the period between 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 (the
“Reporting Period”).

Reporting Guidelines

The Board of Directors the (the “Board”) has adopted the
requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “Guideline”) set out in the Appendix 27
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Reporting Principles

The content of the ESG Report were prepared based on the

Reporting Principles as follows:

Materiality
EEM

HERA

mEL

Quantitative
21t

BRI HEREBRE

AR HEREABRENBTREBEATHRERR

Consistency

3

The Board constantly reviewed
and discussed the Group’s
ESG guidelines, ESG reports
and management objectives by
recognizing and managing ESG-
related risks and opportunities
while taking the Group’s issues of
materiality into account.
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Information and Feedbacks

Our continuous improvements rely on your valuable opinions,

We calculate and disclose

environmental and social KPls

based on relevant standards

and guidelines, such as “How

to Prepare an ESG Report -

Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance

on Environmental KPIs” and

“How to Prepare an ESG Report -

Appendix 3: “Reporting Guidance

on Social KPIs” issued by the Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong.
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Consistent statistical methodologies
have been taken to allow for
meaningful comparisons of ESG
data over time. If there are changes
in the methods used and reporting
scope, the Group will explain
through notes as reference for
stakeholders.
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if you have any advice or suggestions, please contact us by: =R NME:#  EH BTN ERFBE -
Email: info@vicointernational.hk BH - info@vicointernational.hk

Fax: 2728 8263 BHH : 2728 8263

Post: Unit D, 11/F, Billion Plaza Il, No. 10 Cheung Yue % : BEARDERMEI0ORIERES2H

Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERE

Corporate Social Responsibility and Vision

To strive for a better environment for biodiversity, we, as a
part of the community, will continually dedicate ourselves to
promoting and developing a low-carbon working environment
and high-efficiency eco-friendly products and services to
our consumers. As an employer, we will raise employees’
awareness about resource conservation via conducting on-
job environmental education and encouraging sustainable
practices in workplaces. To keep bringing consumers
innovative, environmentally friendly, low-emission, and high-
quality products, we will continue to explore new technologies
and eco-friendly materials for our production to ensure we are
on the same page with our suppliers regarding environmental
protection, we will work closely with them to communicate our
green procurement practices. Our stakeholders are always
welcome to share their opinions and suggestions regarding
environmental conversations as we strongly believe that “the
greener the environment, the better for the world!”

Board of Approval
The Board approved this Report on 25 June 2024.

OUR GOVERNANCE

The Company has formulated and adopted comprehensive
risk management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes and
administrative functions, including database maintenance,
production management, financial reporting and human
resources. Employees have been encouraged to raise their
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters.

Governance Structure and Risk Management

As of 31 March 2024, the Board, which consisted of two female
members and six male members from various business fields,
has established effective risk management and internal control
systems for evaluating and identifying the nature and extent of
the risks of pursuing the Group’s strategic objectives.
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We continue to give the Board with a quarterly update that
provides a fair and understandable appraisal of the Group’s
performance, position, and future prospects. All directors
have the chance to add items to the agenda for regular
board meetings, and they all have free access to board
papers and other resources that are of a caliber and form
that the Board needs to be able to make decisions. An audit
committee, a nomination committee and a remuneration
committee have been established by the Board. The majority
of the committees is made up of independent directors. The
nomination committee has regularly reviewed the structure,
size and composition to make recommendations to the Board
to complement the Company Company’s corporate strategy.
The remuneration committee has discussed management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives. The Audit Committee has assisted
the Board in leading the management and overseeing their
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. For more information on our
corporate governance and risk management, please refer to
the Corporate Governance Report in Annual Report 2024.

The Board constantly reviewed and discussed the Group’s
ESG guidelines, ESG reports and management objectives by
recognizing and managing ESG-related risks and opportunities
while taking the Group’s issues of materiality into account. It
was vital for the Board to continually identify and evaluate the
management process of ESG-related matters and the progress
of achieving the Group’s ESG goals.

The ESG plans formulated by the Board were implemented by
the Administration Managers who communicated and provided
execution plans to related departments. Our Administration
Managers discussed with the responsible departments to
make achievable ESG targets, monitored their progress and
regularly reported to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
(the “Chief Executive Officer”) and the Board.
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Stakeholder Engagement

Keeping a close relationship with stakeholders is essential
to our business operations and sustainable development.
Key stakeholders of the Group include the Government
and regulatory bodies, customers, suppliers, investors,
employees, as well as the public and local communities. To
take the opinions of all stakeholders into consideration in the
long-term development, the Group strives to maintain good
communication with stakeholders through a range of channels
and methods.

FhESH
AEERRERHERTSTIBERERMANES
EBENAHEZREWRER - AEENTERND
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EF BT BEPURRRERAHMHES - BTHE
RMBRRTERMAFNENER  AKEEN
BETRANREN S AEFNERFREBE

Stakeholders Means of Communication and Response
& BEMWBEHELREL X
Shareholders and Investors ° Annual and interim reports

RERMIREE .

Company website

Annual general meeting and other shareholders’
meetings

Press release, announcement and circulars
FHRAP RS

AL

BREBFRGREMBERS

FrEfe - REEEK

Employees o

7l
il
[ ]

Employee team-building activities
Employee job satisfaction surveys
Performance appraisals

Meetings

Newsletters

Orientation programs for new employees
Intranet and emails
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R
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Stakeholders Means of Communication and Response
BHE BMMEEEEEL X
Customers o Customer hotlines

. Suggestion boxes
o Corporate website and social media
o Customer satisfaction surveys
o Newsletters
o E-service application
S s EFER
e ERME
o EBPIRFIMRIEE
s EPREERE
o A
e  EBEFRBKER

Suppliers/Business Partners o Business meetings, supplier conferences, phone
calls and interviews

. Quarterly business review meetings

° Safety trainings

o Contract renewals process and updates

° ESG surveys and reviews
HIER,EER o  XBes HEmeR EELIH

s FEEBELSH

o REHE

e  EAREBFIMEMER

o  RE - HEREREAGHEMNG

Government . Consultancy and discussions
° Meetings and dialogues
B . ERAEH

. BHRYE

Local Community ° Charity activities
o Volunteering activities
o E-mails

b AL R o BEEY
e  EIFD
. B

Media o E-mails

o Press releases
. Corporate websites
° Interview
(EYES o FEIf
e HEW
o EPEU
s  [BHEHM
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Supporting the United Nations Sustainable Development
Goals

We are committed to supporting the global action of the United
Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals, which address the
global challenges we face, including those related to poverty,
inequality, climate change, environmental degradation. The
Group has made commitment to align the operations with 9
of the 17 SDGs with our business impacts to sustainability
studied. Over the long term, the Group are working with our
stakeholders to deliver outstanding value for our environment,
people and community.
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The Environment AFFORDABLE AND 1 CLIMATE 12 RESPONSIBLE 1 SUSTAINABLE CITIES
s CLEAN ENERGY ACTION CONSUMPTION AND GOMMUNITIES
L& AND PRODUCTION
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~ Cd
@ CO | 4 éﬁ

Customers INDUSTRY, INNOVATION 1 SUSTAINABLE CITIES
X AND INFRASTRUCTURE AND GOMMUNITIES
Supply Chain GOOD HEALTH 1 SUSTAINABLE CITIES RESPONSIBLE
(it e 58 AND WELL-BEING AND COMMUNITIES CONSUMPTION
2 AND PRODUCTION

v | alé
People GOOD HEALTH QUALITY GENDER DECENT WORK AND
ST AND WELL-BEING EDUCATION EQUALITY ECONOMIC GROWTH
Community GOOD HEALTH QUALITY GENDER DECENT WORK AND 1 SUSTAINABLE CITIES
HE AND WELL-BEING EDUCATION EQUALITY ECONOMIC GROWTH AND GOMMUNITIES
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PROTECT OUR ENVIRONMENT

The Group continues our efforts to contribute to a better air
quality for our environment. The operation of our fleet may
directly or indirectly emit air pollutants and greenhouse
gasses, as do our offices, warehouses, and production lines
through energy consumption, water use, and waste treatment.

Our production method heavily depends on the use of
electricity and water resources. Energy and water-saving
initiatives are put into place in light of the need to conserve
natural resources, and we regularly review our daily routines
in order to do so. In order to maintain effective resource
usage, we also do routine maintenance on our buildings and
production equipment.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations, such as the
Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354
of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Green Operations

By reducing emissions and conserving resources, the Group
aims to protect the environment by creating a sustainable
business model. “Green Operations” is the principle that the
Group adheres to for protecting the environment. We agree
with the aim of the Paris Agreement, regularly upgrade and
maintain our production equipment, and encourage employees
to take carbon reduction actions. We echo with the global
efforts to combat climate change. We regularly evaluate the
potential negative environmental impacts in our operations,
SO as to decisively implement emission reduction policies and
reduce our carbon footprint. We believe that the following
policies are effective to achieve our goal:

1. Actively raising awareness of environmental protection
in the workplace and regularly distribute electronic
“Sustainable Development” leaflets;

2. Placing green posters in corridors and pantries, and
encourage employees to actively suggest environmental
protection policies to nurture an atmosphere of
environmentally friendliness at workplaces;

&} Turning off computers and other electronic equipment
when not in use;

4. Promoting green messages to employees to raise their
awareness of their own environmental responsibilities;
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Encouraging employees to reuse and recycle, and
placing recycling bins near the office to encourage
employees to recycle paper, plastic bottles and tin cans
regularly;

Promoting the concept of “reduce emission at source”.
When we purchase and replace old legacy equipment,
we favour energy-saving products and compare their
energy efficiency labels. We have done our best to
purchase equipment that has been certified under the
“grade 1 energy label”. We also adopt FSC certified

copying paper;

Installing energy saving T5 fluorescent tubes and
LED lights in workplaces; strictly turning off the power
in all offices after business hours to reduce energy
consumption and conducting energy consumption
review periodically;

Maintaining a suitable office temperature setting of
between 24 to 26 degrees Celsius, avoiding overcooling
in the offices, warehouses and retail outlets so as to
reduce energy consumption;

Asking our employees to consume resources
responsibly. We have pre-settled the company’s
printers for duplex printing and taken steps to make it
easier for employees to recycle paper. We have also
reused office supplies (such as envelopes and folders)
and encouraged reducing paper usage by email in our
internal communications;

Installing water-efficient taps in toilets;

Donating all obsolete office furniture and equipment;
Promoting the use of low-emission vehicles that comply
with Euro V or above standards and unleaded fuels that
combust less air pollution;

Regularly checking our fleet of vehicles to prevent
leakage of oil and chemicals, thereby improving energy

efficiency;

Requiring drivers to switch off idling engines to improve
air quality and reduce pollutant emissions;

Vico International Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2023/2024

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

SEETEEERMEY - YERDEN

RE BUAE - BB T E ME AR
BB AN S B

HEDREREER - EBENERER
s - RAARBIRMEER  WHRE
ERBEZE - RMEEBRECE IR
BERIRR I REHNRE - HMERA TFSC
R AR ENAR

EIRGMELKERETo&E N E MLEDE
BRETEREEREMAARAENE
R OB A RERE - EHIETTRERED

FREMABERBEE4Z26BKE 2
BEMNE  RENTESMBERE

VAR A BETROE#E

EXETEETMERAER - HMASES
RAEIMITENMTER SEEFIED - WERET
it EETERHOKRESR - RMEE
R Rm(EENERRK) - WEBE
REBBET RS EFEIFARKRER

FERIFT R R ETKRRE
BREAMABR R AERBMRE
HBEATERERR A FRER RS
BUSEFESRE - U RER B ZE R

SR

EHRERFIAOBER - LB LA AL
BRI - IR SRR

ERAMEERY  UREERGBEIR
DISRBEDN



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

15. Regular checks of the sewage system and production
facilities equipped in the warehouse to obviate any
wastewater leakage;

16. Integrating electric vehicles into our fleet to lower
carbon dioxide emissions; and

17. Optimizing the routes of our fleet of vehicles for delivery

to promote fuel saving and emission reduction.
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We have joined “Earth Hour 2024” organized by World Wildlife
Fund to enhance staff’s understanding of low carbon office
operation and energy-saving habits, certain events had also
been held to teach our employees about how to save energy
and reduce carbon emissions.

CLIMATE CHANGE ISSUES

Climate change threatens human life and health around the
world, and is relevant to the Group’s business, customers
and supply chain. Therefore, we have adopted the TCFD
recommendations to disclose the measures taken by the
Group to manage climate-related risks and the potential impact
on our business.

Governance

The Board has taken measures to integrate climate-related
issues into the Group’s strategic planning, risk analysis system,
and daily operations and management; established programs
to educate the different levels of our employees about climate
change and the importance of energy conservation. We clarify
relevant roles and responsibilities as to ensure the effective
management of climate risks and the success of the Group’s
climate-related strategy.
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Strategies

When formulating business strategies, we consider the impacts
of climate change, including direct effects on our operations
as well as indirect effects on our customers. We continue to
evaluate climate-related risks and opportunities across the
business segments to identify the implications of these risks
and opportunities.

We understand that risk associated with climate change
includes financial loss or reputational damage resulting from
the physical and transitional effects on our companies and
consumers. We are exposed to environmental and social
risks, including climate risk through our day-to-day business
activities and operations. Therefore, we are taking several
steps to determine the impacts that climate-related risks
and opportunities are having on our business strategies and
financial performance, which include:

1. Implementing more streamlined and sustainable
packaging solutions, we aim to minimize unnecessary
materials and optimize space utilization during
transportation;

2. Educating employees, consumers and suppliers about
the importance of energy conservation;

3t Strengthening the classification and recovery of solid
waste;
4. Ensuring staff to reduce the use of unnecessary

disposable goods and reduce waste; and

5 Promoting and encouraging our customers to adopt
e-billing services.

Climate-related Risks and Opportunities Management

To closely monitor the climate-related risk and opportunities,
the Group has established top-down risk management system
for operational risks:
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The Board

1. Responsible for reviewing development plans and
systems concerning climate changes;

2. Formulating the Group’s strategic positioning and
industrial layout for the accomplishment of ESG goals;
and

SN Monitoring and making suggestions to the execution

plan and business performance in energy conservation
and emissions reduction.

Audit Committee

Assist the Board in identifying, assessing, and managing
the risks and impacts related to climate-related-issues and
environment protection.

Executive Bodies and Departments

1. Implementing the Group’s carbon reduction strategies,
and formulating department level carbon footprint
targets and action plans; and

2. Designing and executing energy conservation plans
to manage our greenhouse gas emissions and energy
efficiency goals.

During the Reporting Period, we evaluated potential climate-
related risks and formulated relevant countermeasures,
include:

Storms

As the frequency of typhoons increases, there may be
operational interruptions and damage to inventory control
and operational facilities, which can limit the Group’s sales
performance. Additionally, it may endanger employee safety
and cause environmental pollution. To reduce the potential
impact, we:

1. Closely monitor the early warnings for severe weather
issued by Hong Kong Observatory;

2. Establish disaster emergency plans, and regularly carry
out emergency drills;

& Prioritize placing production lines and inventory indoors
to minimize disruptions; and

4, Constantly carry out facility maintenance as to improve
disaster protection level.

BRI HEREBRE

£
BEHRECBRRAIMAGNES -

=

2. RAEIESG B 1R 5l 7E 78 52 B 1 BB T i 71
EXEME AR

3. EOUTIRE 6 BRI LA B
AR -

FREEE
HBEFEGREA - A E R E R R AR A AN
REFRERBEHRBMTZE

B1THBFIZP
1. ERAEESHRREE - HEBrERY
B2 ERITENE S AR

2. R TAITERBERT 8 - ABERMIHEE
REBHMAERREBZ

EHREHA - RAFETERRBENETR
B - AHIE THEBR EEEG - B ¢

P

BEERESARNIZ - AIRE S B BUEEP WA K
HEFEEHMEERBNES  ESREIAEE
RISHE R - IS - ERARERETR2IWIE
RBRIZER - BT RLBENTZE - 1 :

1 FURIBERXNABMOBTLRRAE
%Z .
2. HEXERZE  THRREEE

3. BEBLEESNMEFTREECEA - UL
R AR

4. FEETRIERE - RBMAOKF -

2023/2024F

SR ERER A 33



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERE

Floods

Severe rainstorm and floods may lead to higher operation
and maintenance costs of the Group (such to damage to the
Group'’s fleet for product delivery). To reduce the potential
impacts, we:

1. Conduct regular check on the condition of the drainage
system located in our parking and warehouse and
contact Drainage Services Department for repair and
desilting when defects noted,;

2. Encourage departments to educate the employees
about the importance of promoting energy conservation
and climate vulnerability; and

S Reduce the financial loss via insurance.

Long-term effects of temperature changes

The long-term effects of temperature changes may impact
humidity levels, potentially affecting the quality of our raw
materials for products. To mitigate this issue, we:

1. Invest in climate-controlled facilities to maintain
consistent temperature and humidity levels, ensuring
optimal conditions for storing raw materials; and

2. Install monitoring systems to track temperature and
humidity levels in storage areas.

Market

In the wake of climate change, consumers are more likely to
switch to products with lower carbon emission during use and
to goods with a lower carbon footprint in production. To build
up more customers confidence in our products, we:

1. Widen our product range by introducing more low-
sulfated ash, phosphorus, and sulfur products, as well
as environmentally friendly options;

2. Use reusable packaging for our products in order to be
more eco-friendly; and

38 Offer discount to consumers who bring in reusable
containers.
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Reputation

Stakeholders’ attention is increasingly focused on the Group’s
responses to climate change and sustainability. Failure in
meeting expectations may adversely impact our reputation.
Therefore, we:

1. Actively adopt green office initiatives (such as joining
Earth Hour annually to promote the awareness of energy
conservation) to create more sustainable workplaces
by minimizing waste, collecting and recycling materials
and purchasing green office products; and

2. Attentively listen and respond to stakeholders’
concerns.

Metrics and Targets

We are very aware of the actual and potential impacts of
climate change on community, so we are committed to
achieving net zero emissions within our operations by 2040
and across our supply chain by 2050. We will be in line with
the “Paris Agreement” to limit the temperature raise within
1.5°C, and will begin to implement the established business
strategy to reduce the carbon footprint of our operations,
especially pollutants emissions management. Please refer to
the “Air Pollutants Emission Management” section for more
details.
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WATER MANAGEMENT

The Group is committed to lowering water consumption in
addition to implementing “Green Operations”. The Group works
to increase the efficiency of water resources usage in our
everyday operation even though water is the most significant
resource in our manufacturing process. To do this, we promote
water-saving initiatives and optimize our water use structure.
We have not yet experienced a water scarcity because all of
the water used by the Group comes from the Water Suppliers
Department. We are always mindful to strengthening our better
water management practice and water conservation. The
Group consumes water mainly for production process. During
the Reporting Period, the Group consumed in total 3,304.5
m?® of water. In order to lower our water usage, we adopt
water saving techniques and the measures adopted by the
Companies include:

1. Carrying out regularly routine maintenance for
production facilities to prevent water leakage;

2. Upgrading the water purification system to reduce the
amount of reverse osmosis (“RO”) water waste;

Sk Cleaning the workplaces and watering plants with the
wastewater;
4. Introducing water conservation system to reduce water

wasted by placing sensor taps in the workplaces; and
5 Posting water-saving slogans in conspicuous places.

Water Efficiency Target in 2025

Water consumption is directly proportional to our production.
We aimed to enhance the water efficiency of our production
process by 5% in 2025. The Company has established water
management policy and water conservation initiatives and
encouraged employees to follow during our daily operation.
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WASTE MANAGEMENT

As the world’s population and its affluence grow, we are
making more efforts to avoid and reduce waste in every part
of our operations. Employees are encouraged to reduce
waste via improved procurement and operations, as well as
by using fewer packaging and more sustainable materials.
Relying on waste as a resource improves efficiency, reduces
costs, and reduces our environmental impact. Our goal is to
minimize waste as well as to recycle, reuse, and return it to the
environment as our best.

Additionally, our dedication to waste reduction complements
our waste management efforts. We have taken a number of
steps to lessen the strain on landfills based on the 3R concept
(Reduce, Reuse, Recycle). We responsibly process and
gather production trash, such as cans for storing gasoline.
While some package carriers would be handled by clients for
reusing purposes, some fuel storage cylinders from clients
would be recycled and used for transporting the same type of
goods. The discharge of sewage has strictly complied with all
applicable rules and regulations with regard to wastewater.

The Group strives to reduce carbon footprint through putting
considerable focus on managing our waste generation and
resource conservation. The waste generated by the Group can
be broadly divided into harmless waste and hazardous waste.
Our harmless waste is mainly from the general office waste
produced by staffs during office operations. It is collected and
treated by the management company of the buildings where
our offices are located. Hazardous waste such as used toner
cartridges and batteries are also generated from offices and
are collected by qualified parties.

Due to nature of our business, the Group may produce
hazardous waste during the production of lubricants and
petrochemical products. In order to properly handle the waste,
we engage licensed waste collectors in accordance with
the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation
(Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group strives
with our best efforts to prevent harm to the environment in the
best interests of the society.
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The amount of waste produced during the Reporting Period: REHBBEEMELS
Weight Total Weight Intensity
Type of Waste BYESR B8 wES BE
(kg per million
Hong Kong
dollars of
(kg) (kg) revenue)
TR/ B85
(F7) (F5) Wezs)
Total Waste BEYEE 1,372.5 0.9
A)  Non-hazardous waste A) EEEEY
(domestic waste) (KRB EEY) 558.0 0.3
Disposed at landfill b:: 370.0
Recycled Bk 188.0
B) Hazardous waste B) BEBREY
(commercial waste) (FEEY) 784.0 0.5
Recycled IRl 784.0
C)  Other waste C) HiEEY 30.5 0.02
Toner cartridges Ty 23.4
Light bulbs ) 5.2
Batteries 50 1.9

Waste generated — By category

FRELNERY - RERSS

2.2%

Non-hazardous waste

BEEERY

= Hazardous waste

BEEEY

Other waste

4075 HAbRERY)
. (o]
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Waste Reduction Target in 2025

In February 2021, the Government announced the “Waste
Blueprint for Hong Kong 2035”, with the vision of “Waste
Reduction e Resources Circulation e Zero Landfill” and outline
the strategies, goals, and measures to tackle the challenge of
waste management by 2035. In response to the blueprint and
to realize the vision as soon as possible, we aimed to reduce
the waste disposal by 8% through a combination of supply-
chain and packaging management, employee education and
consumer engagement by 2025. The strategies formulated
were as follow:

1. Using reusable packaging for our products and
providing discounts to consumers who use our reusable
containers;

2. Working with suppliers to create green packaging
solutions;

Sk Actively seeking seek improvements in our production

processes to minimize waste. We also encourage
employees to limit waste in their daily tasks, such as
unnecessary printing and photocopying;

4, Using electronic means (e.g. email) for communication,
sourcing office paper with recycled content, printing
only when necessary and reusing single-sided printing
paper and stationery;

S Building e-commerce websites to provide a green and
sustainable shopping experience; and

6. Incorporating trainings on waste reduction into regular
training programs and new employee orientation.

Packaging materials were used during the repackaging
of petrochemical products. The consumption during the
Reporting Period was as follows:

BRI HEREBRE

“EREoAFRERE

“ERECF_F BB TEBERRBERE
B2035) - IRH T[2RREE » ERMER « TREH
HIWRER W T =R FAIRHEYER
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RERE—BR  AABRIRE_S_HFZA
BAHEENEEER BIHENMHEESHR
BRSSO EEYBR TR 8% o FT il E Y Bl s 40
T

1. REMANERERTEEERNER I
RERRERTREBE RN

2. HEEHAE SRGERKTER

3. BPEESKBELEERE  URERD
BEEY - RATERERAERE TIEPE
ERDRE - Pl T BEITE R ;

4. AREFARAAN(MEE)FLERE

B REEERAERL  REVERE
THTED > WA EEENRIAR R R X A fBIR B
A

5. BEEFHHEELY  RESENAFEN
By UKk

6. R AR B B 55 31 4 A TE B Bl 5t 8 A ¥
MBIEN -

R R - B H 0 R AL TR SR
BEMHERDT :

Weight

Type of Packaging Material BRYVES BE

(tonnes)

(W8)

Paper # 0.5

Plastic B 47.8

Metal B 51.3
Intensity (tonnes/million Hong Kong dollars of 2 (K B &8 T W)

revenue) 0.1
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R HERERKRE

AIR POLLUTANTS EMISSION MANAGEMENT

The Group is conscious about the health impacts and global
climate change caused by exposure to air pollution and
thus continues our efforts in contributing to better air quality
for well- being of our employees, customers, and the wider
community. The Group has been making steady progress
in diminishing our carbon footprints across of business. The
Group owns a fleet of vehicles in supporting its logistics
operations, air pollutants were emitted from the use of vehicles.
The air pollutant emissions from the use of vehicles during the
Reporting Period were as follows:

BEREHERE
AEEEBIZRSAERERZRRABEREE
RHOFE  ARBESHRET  BEERERH
BEVEEM - RIMNBEZREE - EXBRED
R - R ERR D - #AREER B
FEEVYTRENEETR  BERMADBHEE
SRR AR EABMIRENTE - R
AEERE - XEFARERTERRY
tEREAERmMERRBME BB TR - £
WEHRN - REWEAMELNZERTREYIENR
EWT

Weight

Type of Emissions BmiEE EE
(kg)

(F7)

Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) AA/LHI(NO,) 779.0
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) mEEY(SO,) 0.4
Particulate Matter (PM) FERYN(PM) 67.6

Air pollutants emission from the use of vehicles

EREAMEENEZRSRYHKRE

Nitrogen oxides (NOx)
AALYI(NOX)

800 1.2

779 1.0

780
0.8

(ke/T52)
(ke/T52)

760 0.6

749.5
0.4

0.4
740
0.2

720 0

2023/24 2022/23 2023/24
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Sulphur oxides (SOx)
&L Y(SOx)

2022/23

Particulate Matter (PM)
FERIHI(PM)
80

1.0 67.6
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

Apart from the air pollutants, greenhouse gas is another major
type of air emission of the Group. Our fleet of vehicles releases
not only pollutants, but also greenhouse gases such as
carbon dioxide (CO,), methane (CH,) and nitrous oxide (N,O).
Moreover, the operation of our principal office and warehouse
will also directly or indirectly emit greenhouse gases through
electricity consumption, water and sewage treatment, paper
disposal and business trips by staffs. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions were as follows:

R HERERBERE

BERBEN

BTERSRY  BEREEAEEERHR
WS- BEBHEA - RAMHEHTEBRSR
¥ - BEM=EILH(CO,) - FE(CH) AL
AN,O)EBERME - A RMEBMEER
£ EMELEBBBE DB - KRS KER -
HREEAE TABRTEESEEERAER
B o RSP - AEE S EREYNIER N

ko

7

Weight
Types of Emissions BmER BEE
(tonnes CO.e)
7= 74
Total emissions M E 107.2
Direct Emissions (Scope 1)’ B (EE) 62.5
Energy Indirect Emissions (Scope 2)? BRI HE R (F[E2)? 40.4
Other Indirect Emissions (Scope 3)? H b R B (B3 [E13)3 4.3
Intensity (tonnes CO,e/million Hong Kong dollars FEM_StREE
of revenue) BEBTWER) 0.1
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BERBHEK
Direct Emissions (Scope 1) Energy Indirect Emissions (Scope 2) Other Indirect Emissions (Scope 3)
EiEHk (EE 1) BETR B e (85 2) H bR bk (85 3)
200 50 5
174.3 43
404
— . 40 = 4
& 150 5 32.9 1:%
% M il
\
3 62.5 s 2 S 2
(&) (&) (v}
g so g ¢
c c 10 c 1
g g H
0 0 0
2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23
Remarks: HtaE -
1. The data includes GHG emissions from the combustion of fuels in office ILTEER O EAEEMRREFTBEN R EREE -
vehicles.
2. The data includes GHG emissions from the generation of purchased 2. I EHEEERUEEIINBENAEROEERE -
electricity.
3. The data includes GHG emissions from the landfill disposal of paper 3. BB EOEEREEERE  AUEERKNSKE

waste, electricity consumption for freshwater and sewage processing,
and business travel by employee.

BEN  URB T ABAHFRRERE -
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R HERERERE

42

Environmental effects of air pollution exist. The Group is
dedicated to lowering air pollution production. For instance, we
encourage the adoption of low-emission cars that meet Euro V
or higher criteria and unleaded fuels since they burn cleaner.
We also perform routine maintenance on our cars to stop oil
and chemical leaks, which enhances energy efficiency. In
order to promote energy efficiency, we implement the following
policies and measures:

Utilizing energy-efficient equipment in its offices and
turning them off after use;

Pasting a “Energy Saver” labels beside the power
switches and encourage staffs to turn off lights when
away;

Turning off indoor lighting when sunlight is sufficient;

Strictly switching off all the power during non-office
hours;

Asking employees to set the printers and computers to
sleep/standby mode when they are not in use;

Adjusting air-conditioning systems to avoid the
office temperature being unnecessary low, and set
a thermometer to monitor the room temperature for
keeping the indoor temperature at an appropriate level,
and

Procuring energy efficient office equipment with
reference to energy labels.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the Air
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
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Emission Target in 2025

Carbon Emission Peak and Carbon Neutrality are environmental
policies that have been fully implemented in Mainland
China and Hong Kong in recent years. By implementing
a combination of supply chain management, consumer
engagement, employee education and training initiatives, the
Group aims to achieve the target of reducing total emissions
by 5% by 2025 in order to enhance our competitiveness. For
fleet management and employee trainings, our strategies
included:

1. Optimizing the routes of product delivery for the better
control of emission control;

2. Integrating Euro V or above standards vehicles and
electric vehicles into our fleet to combust less emission;

3 Encouraging the consumption of low sulphur fuel oil to
reduce emission;

4. Strictly Requiring drivers to switch off idling engines to
improve air quality and reduce pollutant emissions; and

Sk Continually enforcing our “Green Operations” principle
in the workplaces.

BRI HEREBRE
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R HERERERE

ENERGY CONSUMPTION MANAGEMENT

The Group consumed energy directly through fuel
consumption of the company fleet, and indirectly through
the use of electricity. To mitigate the impacts of the energy
consumption hence reduce greenhouse emission from the
use of vehicles, which is the major emission source, the Group
has adopted a series of measures such as inspecting vehicles
regularly to prevent fuel leakage and hence optimize fuel
efficiency. Drivers are also required to switch off idling engines
to minimize energy wastage. The energy consumption of the
Group during the Reporting Period was as follows:

Energy consumption

REFUHFEEE
AEBE QA ERAMBERER T ERERH
e MEASMNEENERTRZERBER - BT

RE R ERENTE  EMBVERFERANAES
RN AEEERDMT —RAERE - Hla05E 8
WEEW - AR IERRBIE - 1T E B E

K o BIMMRFEIRR - ARARRE IR 82 R
RE - MEHANAEENGRBFRENT

BETROH #%

Total energy consumption (MWh) 48R R K FLIF) 330.3
Direct energy consumption (MWh)' BEER KRR 221.2
Indirect energy consumption (MWh)? R seRBFE OK FLRE)? 109.1

Intensity (MWh/million Hong Kong dollars of revenue) ZE (KEE BEBTWE) 0.2

Remarks: Bt -

1. Direct energy consumption includes fuel consumption in vehicles. 1. HEEREFERIEEEMMEDER -

2. Indirect energy consumption includes electricity purchased for 2. HEEREFEREINEEN

consumption.
Energy Conservation Target in 2025 “—EChFRFHNER
To drive energy conservation by 5% through a combination of BB EHEEIR  HEELRHE B THEMRIE

supply chain management, consumer engagement, employee
educational and technical means by 2025, the strategies
implemented were as follow:

The Company

1. Fleet management to optimize the routes of product
delivery for the improvement of fuel efficient and
emission control;

2. Provide regular trainings to our drivers to change their
driving behavior as to promote fuel efficiency;

&k Implement “Green Operation” initiatives in workplaces
to decrease the usage of energy and waste; and

4. Invest in higher energy-efficient equipment and devices
to reduce the energy consumption.
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Consumers

1. Encourage their use of our digital platform for billing
and ordering service to reduce reliance on paper;

2. Provide e-newsletters to consumers to promote proper
driving practices; and

38 Motivate consumers to reuse packaging or return the
reusable containers.

Supply Chain
1. Choose eco-friendly suppliers;
2. Consider the carbon footprint generated during the

delivery process; and

2k Collaborate with suppliers to create green packaging
solutions.

The Group pays attention to the emission of greenhouse
gases, which is the main cause of the greenhouse effect and
climate change. Climate change causes problems such as
depletion of water resources, decline in agricultural production
and ecological imbalances. We note that the Global Risks
Report 2022 of World Economic Forum has stated that climate
change, extreme weather and natural disasters are key risks
that must be addressed globally. We join the global efforts in
combating climate change and are committed to monitoring
our carbon footprint through a number of measures, such as
energy and resources conservation (for details, please refer to
the “Green Operations” section) to work with the international
community and achieve global carbon reduction goals.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any
case of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to emissions.
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R HERERERE

CARE FOR OUR EMPLOYEES

The Group recognizes and cherishes the dedication of
its employees, which serves as the primary engine for all
advancement toward sustaining our commercial success.
The Group promotes the idea that each employee should
get fair treatment and consistency across the Board, and
we implement our employment laws in compliance with the
requirements of the Employment Ordinance. In order to attract,
keep, and grow talent, we are committed to establishing a
welcoming and rewarding environment.

Employment Standard

We have a diverse workforce and we expect our employees
to treat one another with respect and dignity. In order to
ensure the equality and dignity of all employees, we prohibit
discrimination on the basis of gender, age, race, religion,
disability, marital status or political affiliation. All employment
decisions are made in accordance with equal opportunity.
We comply all applicable laws and regulation, such as the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and the Mandatory Provident Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

As part of our human resources management process, we
take reasonable steps to verify the identity of all applicants. All
employees are provided with legally enforceable employment
contracts to protect their rights. No child or forced labour is
permitted.

To avoid child labor, the human resources department
conducts background checks and identity document checks
for the potential employees during the recruitment process.
The employment will be terminated if any violation of labor
standards is found. Furthermore, we require our employees to
sign labor contracts that detail the working hours, employee
benefits, and termination rights to prevent any form of forced
labor. Upon resignation, a payment of the outstanding wages
will be made. There have not been any non-compliances in
relation to employment, which shall be handled in accordance
with relevant contracts and regulations once discovered during
the Reporting Period.
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As of 31 March 2024, we employed a total of 31 employees
(all of which were located in Hong Kong) and the specific
information of employees at the Group was as follows:

BRI HEREBRE

BE_Z_WF=A=+—8 xEEHERT
IR T (2HUNER) - FRAKREETHA
BERIT:

2023/24
Workforce BITHH —E-=/-/g
(persons)
(A)
By gender ®RER &S
Male = 20
Female 7 11
By employment type REBERES
Full-time i 31
Part-time FoE 0
By age group RERESE S
<30 <30 1
30-50 30-50 13
>50 >50 17

Employee’s Benefits and Development

The Group strives to be a responsible business that provides
a decent working environment and career development
opportunities for our employees. The salary structure is
reviewed constantly to ensure that our employees enjoy
competitive remuneration package. Apart from basic salary,
we also offer discretionary bonus based on individual
performance of the employees and our financial performance.
Competent employees will be considered for internal promotion
in recognition of their efforts and contribution. Employees are
also entitled to statutory holidays as stipulated in relevant
regulations.

The Group strives to provide a fair and motivating working
environment. The annual appraisal is employed for evaluation
purpose to attain our goal of pursuing competitiveness and
motivation. We also make recommendations on their career
development in the appraisal with a view to maintaining
the competitiveness of our employees. We also ensure that
thorough consideration of employee’s attitude, ability and
performance at work precedes every promotion and dismissal
decision. Competent employees will be considered for internal
promotion in recognition of their efforts and contributions.
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R HERERERE

Through various activities and initiatives, we aim to enhance
employee engagement and promote a sense of belonging
within our organization. One of the highlights this year was
the company annual dinner. We organized a memorable
event at a Chinese restaurant, where we gathered all our staff
members for a delightful celebration. The event provided an
opportunity for our employees to unwind, socialize, and enjoy
a scrumptious feast while strengthening the bonds within our
team. In addition to our annual dinner, we also organized
periodic lunch and dinner gatherings for our staff. These
informal get-togethers offer a relaxed setting for colleagues
to interact, share ideas, and build meaningful connections
beyond their everyday work responsibilities.

BREBREESMNER  HABIRRSEING
BE - RERPEBRIBNBEER - SFOTH

—RARBFHRE - WAETAEERRT —
BEABENES  SHAEERIREE K B
B—HRROBE - LR RRMANETRMHT
BRR - HRMEXBRENRE - FIF SR T R
B HBE - R TRMANBFBRE - BFIER/K
PNETHBERNTERBRERE - FLIFL
AMBERHT —EARRMERE - BERFEF
DERE - WY AT TERIMNIRIFRRE -

Dinner gathering with our staff
BHMHETHEBRE

To recognise their hard work and dedication, we have
implemented the “Star of the Month” initiative. Each month,
we honor an exceptional employee by presenting them with
a congratulatory cake. This small gesture not only highlights
their achievements but also serves as motivation for others to
strive for excellence. We also understand the importance of
work-life balance and the integral role families play in the lives
of our employees. To foster stronger connections of our staff,
we organized a special dinner gathering where employees
are encouraged to invite their family members together. This
gathering offered a relaxed ambiance, delectable cuisine, and
an opportunity for our staff to introduce their loved ones to their
co-workers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group has not been involved in any case of non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to employment or
labour standards. During the Reporting Period, information
relating to turnover rate was as follows (all of which were
located in Hong Kong):

BRI HEREBRE

B RR B S TRERE AR - AEE
RGPS RETHRAELEAYEHTABE
R BEDHN - BRERKEHEADT @R
EB)

2023/24
Employee Turnover Rate BEIRKAR e
(%)
(BfAtL)
By gender RER &S
Male Es 5.0
Female z 0.0
By age group REREE S
<30 <30 0.0
30-50 30-50 7.7
>50 >50 0.0
Employees’ Training EEFZI
We accord great importance to employee development HMEEERETIMNERE  HMREEHRMY

which we believe is crucial to our long-term prosperity. The
Group invests time and resources in employee training and
development to ensure that our employees have a breadth and
depth of knowledge and skills to achieve the business goal.
The training plan devised by management aims to address
the training needs of our employees. For new employees,
orientation is provided in order to deepen their understanding
of operation practice of the Group for better employee
integration. The Group also promotes the work-life balance
culture in the company. Besides, regular training organized by
our in-house employees is designed to enhance employees’
competency in the operation of our businesses.

RHIZEXAEHEEE - AEESKEMERAZT
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R HERERERE

During the Reporting Period, the training data of our Group  REHIR - EEATINE THEMNNT ¢

was as follow:

2023/24
Percentage of Employees Trained ZIJEIESH —E-=/=
(%)
(Batk)
By gender R &5

Male ES 95.0
Female Z 100.0

By employee category RESERES
Senior management SRERE 100.0
Middle management PRERE 100.0
General staff —BET 96.9
2023/24
Average Training Hours Completed per Employee &% 8 T FHZ IR —E-=/=
(Hours)
(/NBF)

By gender R RIE D

Male 3 4.8
Female z 5.0

By employee category REEERES
Senior management aREERE 6.0
Middle management HRERE 5.0
General staff —fRET 5.0

PROTECT OUR EMPLOYEES’ HEALTH AND SAFETY

It is important that we effectively manage occupational health
and safety in order to ensure workplace safety and health.
We strive to ensure a safe and healthy working environment
while raising employees’ awareness regarding occupational
health and safety. The Group strictly adheres to local laws and
regulations regarding occupational health and safety, such as
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Fire Services Ordinance
(Chapter 95 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Support on Workplace Safety

There have been a number of practical measures taken by
the Group to minimize any negative health and safety impacts
from operations. To maintain a safe work environment for
our employees, we provide workplace safety guidelines and
conduct regular workplace safety inspections to determine the
risks involved with each procedure. To counteract the risks
identified in the risk evaluation, preventative and protective
measures have been implemented. Safety and caution signs
have been placed in the workplaces and showrooms to alert
our employees, consumers and the public. Our administrative
department encourages employees and the public to report
any potential hazards and risks in the workplaces so that we
can continuously improve our workplaces. Our employees are
also provided with safety trainings to increase their awareness
of workplace safety apart from posting notices or labels and
supplying personal protective equipment as needed.
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We provided safety trainings to our staff regarding guidelines from The Occupational Safety & Health Council
BAAKRMNE ITREEBELZ SRR BNESIEENT 215
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RIE - dERERBRE

Accident Handling Scheme

Although protective measures have been implemented, our
employees are subject to work-related accidents and injuries
given the nature of our services. To secure workplace safety
to our employees, apart from providing protective equipment,
we have a comprehensive management approach from early
risk identification to actual accident. The Group recognizes
that the use of chemicals poses risks to the environment and
to the health of its employees. We strive to minimize the risks
and hazards through regular chemical spillage drill which
enhances the emergency response of our employees in the
event of chemical leakage. Fire drill and emergency policies
were also implemented to reduce safety risks. In case of work-
related accidents, we conduct a detailed analysis for the
cause of injuries and implement measures to improve or rectify
the issues. The Group continuously monitors the improvement
measures to minimize the possibility of accidents.

In the past three years, the Group was not aware of any work-
related fatalities. During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any work-related injuries.

VALUE CREATED FOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS

All aspects of our operations are constantly being improved in
order to create value for our customers. Our group is dedicated
to maintaining close and mutually beneficial relationships with
its suppliers.

Supply Chain Management

The Group adopts a set of rigorous quality control policies
to optimize management efficiency, emission reduction, low-
carbon control and curb costs during our sourcing, production
and delivery cycles. We dedicate our efforts to perfect the
supply chain management by purchasing quality products and
materials.
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We only make purchases from well-known, approved suppliers
whose performance is analyzed annually to verify the quality
of supplies in order to assure consistency in the quality of
our petrochemical goods. To make sure we are satisfying
consumer demands for high-quality and ecologically friendly
products, we often request from our suppliers that they
produce an annual report on the technical standards and
conduct annual background checks when we buy lubricating
oil and other products. While evaluating our suppliers in
accordance with the supplier management measures, the
Group will ensure that:

1. The suppliers provide legal and valid business
registration documents;

2. Hazardous chemical suppliers and special
manufacturing suppliers have corresponding
qualification certificates;

3. The suppliers have not involved in any violations or
serious legal disputes;

4, The suppliers have a sound reputation in a perfect
quality assurance system; and

5 The suppliers demonstrate financial and operational
capacity to perform the contract. The distribution of our
suppliers shows as below:

BRI HEREBRE

BFIRARERNE - RAWEEEETRE  HRE
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1. HEBREHSEZMEMNEEE X

2. ERtERHERNSREEHERASR
HENERES

3. HEBRAE2EEMEETRUBRENE
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4. HEREZENmEREBRTZEERY
MEBE . UK

3 HEBERATEITERMNTHEMEERE

B BAWHEEA D HIT

Mainland
Geographical Region Hong Kong Singapore South Korea ~ Malaysia China
e BB s [ ERAER EIR
Number of suppliers HEHHA 16 1 2 4
Sustainable Development of the Supply Chain HEENAFERRE
In addition to highly valuing the stability of the supply chain, the B 7 mEERHEEENBEMIN - NEBERT

Group concerns social responsibility. In the case of suppliers
who do not perform well in terms of social responsibility and
who have adversely affected society, their offers shall not be
considered.
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RIE - dERERBRE

As a part of the community, promoting green development is
a part of the Group’s mission. We will continue to work closely
together with our suppliers on sustainable development issues.

The Group has established green procurement measures on
purchasing green office products, equipment and product
materials whenever possible. The Group has a preference on
engaging suppliers who have the following measures in place:

1. Systemically optimizing energy efficiency in the
production process;

2. Properly handling the wastes produced during the
production or delivery;

3" Establishing measure to effectively control recourse in
product manufacturing;

4. Do not employ child or forced labour; and
5% Actively reducing unnecessary packages and labels.
OPERATIONS

Our goal is to provide high-quality products and services to
our customers. To achieve this goal, we need to maintain clear
communication with customers, employees, and suppliers to
gain their strong support.

Additionally, apart from the trademarks of our main brands, the
Group’s business does not involve any significant intellectual
property. Nevertheless, we regularly monitor for any potential
infringements to ensure the smooth operation of our business.

Product Warranty and Return Policy

We offer product swap on the sales of petrochemicals to our
customers within ten days following the purchase. We bear
the liability of product defects only on our in-house blended
products.
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If our clients or distributors farther down the supply chain
complain about quality issues or quantity shortages with
the goods we sold, we will look into the situation with them.
We shall therefore make further deliveries to our customers
if it turns out that our delivery was insufficient. We accept
exchanges or replacements for the identical kind of product
in the event of quality problems. In terms of the third-party
branded products, our upstream suppliers or distributors, as
applicable, are generally liable for any defective products
distributed or manufactured by them and offer replacement of
defective products. Given that our sales of third-party branded
products to downstream distributors are covered by the quality
warranty of the product manufacturers, we provide no refund
or return of any obsolete inventories to our customers who
are downstream distributors. In addition, products purchased
with fleet cards will be subject to the after-sale policies of oil
companies, and are not covered by our return policy.

BRI HEREBRE
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CHEMICALS CO., LTD.

Cerficate No: CC 3458

YEE SING HONG PETROLEUM

F Mool e and Warhse Puing No 2 216218 TexcoRood T Wan New T Hong K

1S0 9001:2015
applicabieio:

HONG KONG QUALT

[ 3
He

Our subsidiary in the sales of lubricant oil segment obtained 1ISO9001:2015 Quality Management System
Certification certified by The Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
BPERBREED TN FARERTELRERERBEEMNISO001:2015m B EIEIE KR E

Quality Control Policies

We maintain a set of rigorous quality control policies
throughout our sourcing, production and delivery cycle, and
we provide quality after-sale services. To ensure consistent
quality of the petrochemicals we distributed, we only source
finished products and raw materials from our approved
suppliers, whose performances are reviewed annually so as to
ensure overall quality of supplies.
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R HERERERE

In our in-house blending and repackaging of our lubricants,
we strictly follow the formula and production guidelines
applicable to the respective types of lubricant oil. In addition,
during the process of blending and repackaging, Mr. Hui Pui
Sing, our executive Director and the Chairman of the Board
(the “Chairman”), who has more than 52 years of experience
in handling petrochemicals, regularly inspects the sample
of finished products on the basis of various factors such as
viscosity, coloring, sediments, smell and opacity. In the event
that the sample fails the quality assurance test, components
used in the process will be adjusted and the product will be
re-blended until it conforms to the requirements. If the failed
product cannot be re-blended, the entire production batch will
be rejected and disposed. During the Reporting Period, the
Company did not receive any material complaints about our
products or service.

Laws and Regulations in relation to Consumer Protection

For the petrochemical products sales business, we provide
customers with exchange services within 10 days of purchase.
We bear the liability of product defects only on our in- house
blended products. In terms of the third-party branded
products, our upstream suppliers or distributors, as applicable,
are generally liable for any defective products distributed or
manufactured by them and offer replacement of defective
products.

We maintain customer service hotlines to, among other things,
take complaints from customers relating to the services and
sales behavior of our sales agents. During the Reporting
Period, we did not have any products recall due to safety or
health reasons.

Customer Information Security

Throughout our daily operation, we electronically receive,
process, store and transmit sensitive information, including
personal identifiable information, bank account information,
financial information and expense data.
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To protect the privacy of our customers, we adopted a policy
covering the collection, transfer, processing, encryption,
and backup of all personal and other private information
collected from them, and any assets of the group, including
but not limited to materials and information for official purpose,
shall not be taken or copied for personal purpose without
authorization, offender will be subject to disciplinary action or
prosecution.

1. Consumer documentation gathered in electronic form
is protected by encrypted regular back-ups within
the Group’s information management system. Such
information will be destroyed two years after the
consumer requests to terminate their account;

2. Hard copies of all documents from consumers are kept
by our Group in a locked document cabinet, the key to
which is kept by the Group’s customer service manager.
Such documents will also be kept by our Group for two
years before destruction;

3 Within our internal computer systems, we implement
appropriate access control measures that ensure
personal data and other private information of
consumers can only be accessed when necessary, by
senior management and authorized staff;

4, The Chief Executive Officer (as supported by in-house
technicians and external vendors), is responsible for
overseeing the safekeeping of personal data and other
private information in our possession as well as the
maintenance of our internal systems for data storage,
processing and protection; and

B During the application process for fleet cards, we set
forth our privacy policy to inform applicants of how their
personal data will be used.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.
Such regulations included the Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).
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COMMUNITY

We have been promotion “Business-in-Community” philosophy
and aim to bring positive value to our community. We strive
for a prosperity with the society as well as our pursuit of
business development, the group is keen to contribute in
support of healthy development of the community. As an
enterprise with strong social conscience, the Group has
been actively contributing to promote collaborations among
business and social service partners and inspire corporate
social responsibility. We also encourage business and public
institutions to join hands and build a cohesive society through
caring for the community, employees and the environment.

Supporting carbon reduction and sustainable development
has been a priority of global enterprises in recent years. In
response to the government’s “Hong Kong Climate Action
Plan 2050” and striving to achieve carbon neutrality at an
early date, in addition to daily emission reduction measures,
we participated in and encouraged employees to join Earth
Hour 2024 (organized by World Wildlife Fund), to protect the
community environment by reducing energy consumption and
emissions.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

With regard to bribery, extortion, anti-corruption, fraud, and
money laundering, the Group takes a zero-tolerance approach
and strictly adheres to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
((Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the laws and
regulations concerning business ethics.

Directors and employees are strictly prohibited from soliciting,
accepting, or offering any benefits in conducting the Group’s
business, as stipulated in the Employees’ Handbook, Code
of Conduct and Anti-corruption Policy. The Employees’
Handbook, Code of Conduct and relevant policies are subject
to regular review as to comply with the most updated laws and
regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any
case of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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ANTI-CORRUPTION TRAINING

In order to enhance the anti-corruption awareness of all
directors and employees, the Group provided anti-corruption
and integrity related trainings at different levels and in a wide
range of fields, Anti-corruption courses will also be delivered
on an irregular basis to ensure all employees have access to
current knowledge.
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Supervision and Whistleblowing Policy

Any employee can raise a reasonable concern about bribery,
corruption, fraud, or other issues with the appropriate Heads
of Departments, either verbally or in writing. After compiling
enough information, the Heads of Departments will present
the report to the Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman. If the
concern involves the Heads of Departments, or for any reason
the employee would prefer the Heads of Departments not to be
told, the employee may raise the concern and submit his/her
report to the Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman. If for any
reason the employee would prefer the Chief Executive Officer
not to be told, the employee may raise the concern and submit
his/her report directly to the Chairman. If the concern involves
the Chairman, the employee may raise the concern and submit
his/her report directly to the Audit Committee. All reports and
enquiries will be handled with strict confidentiality under all
circumstances to preserve anonymity.
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Every case received by the Group will be evaluated to
determine whether a full investigation is necessary. If a full
investigation is required, an appropriately senior supervisor
will be appointed and a special committee will be set up by
the Group to investigate the matter. Upon completion of the
review, a final report containing recommendations for changes
or improvements (if applicable) will be submitted to the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee will then review the final
report and, if appropriate, make recommendations to the
Board.

According to our Whistleblowing Policy, a multi-communication
channel has been developed for stakeholders and involved
parties to address their opinions and raise grievances in case
they are unfairly treated by the Group. The Audit Committee
reviews the report of complaints regularly and provides
summary reports to the Board, when necessary.

Reporting channels to the Chairman or the Audit Committee:

Post: Unit D, 11/F, Billion Plaza 2, 10 Cheung Yue Street,
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: whistle@vicointernational.hk
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is pleased to present this
Corporate Governance Report for the year ended 31 March
2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving good corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) as the basis of the
Company’s corporate governance practices.

The Board is of the view that throughout the Reporting Period,
the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code.

A. MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules (the “Securities Dealing Code”).

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and
all the relevant employees and they have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Securities Dealing Code throughout the Reporting
Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines
no less exacting than the Model Code (the “Dealing
Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company. No incident of non-
compliance of the Dealing Guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Company’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performance and should
take decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution
required from the Director to perform his/her
responsibilities to the Company, and whether the
Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

(1) Board Composition

As at 31 March 2024, the Board comprised
eight Directors, consisting of four executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors, as
follows:—

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Pui Sing (Chairman of the Board and
chairman of the Nomination Committee)

Ms. Tong Man Wah

Mr. Hui Yip Ho Eric (Chief Executive Officer and
member of the Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Kong Man Ho

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Chun Man

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ching Sum (member of each of the
Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Leung Ho Chi (Chairman of each of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee
and member of the Nomination Committee)

Ms. Ng Wing Sze Vince (member of each of

the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee) (Appointed on 1 March 2024)
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Mr. Hui Pui Sing is the spouse of Ms. Tong Man
Wah, and the father of Mr. Hui Yip Ho Eric.
Save as disclosed above, there are no family or
other material/relevant relationships among the
members of the Board.

Ms. Ng Wing Sze Vince, who has been appointed
as the independent non-executive Director
during the Reporting Period, has obtained the
legal advice on 29 February 2024 as regards
the requirements under Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules and the possible consequences of making
a false declaration or giving false information to
the Stock Exchange, and she has confirmed she
understood her obligations as the Director of the
Company.

The biographical information of the Directors
as at the date of this Annual Report are set out
in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual
Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates
that the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set
out in writing.

Currently, the positions of Chairman of the Board
(the “Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”)
are held by Mr. Hui Pui Sing and Mr. Hui Yip
Ho Eric respectively. The Chairman provides
leadership for the Board and is responsible for
corporate strategic planning, overall business
development, management, decision making
and business development strategies of the
Group. The Chief Executive Officer oversees the
operation of Company’s fleet cards business and
the Group’s overall corporate management and
business development strategies.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at
all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one
of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board
Independence Evaluation Mechanism during
the year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgment to
better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve
Board effectiveness, maximize strengths, and
identify the areas that need improvement or
further development. The evaluation process
also clarifies what actions of the Company need
to be taken to maintain and improve the Board
performance, for instance, addressing individual
training and development needs of each
Director.
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Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism, the Board will conduct annual review
on its independence. The Board Independence
Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the
action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, all
Directors have completed the independence
evaluation in the form of a questionnaire
individually. The Board Independence Evaluation
Report was presented to the Board and the
evaluation results were satisfactory.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism
and the results were satisfactory.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for a term of one year, subject to
renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general
meetings. Under the Articles of Association of
the Company (the “Articles”), at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for
the time being, or if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. The Articles also provides that
all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall be subject to election by shareholders at
the first general meeting after appointment. The
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. Directors
take decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors
are responsible for ensuring a high standard
of regulatory reporting of the Company and
providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all
the information of the Company as well as the
services and advice from the company secretary
and senior management. The Directors may,
upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company'’s expenses for discharging their duties
to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company
details of other offices held by them and
the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her
responsibilities to the Company.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major
matters relating to policy matters, strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and co-
ordinating the daily operation and management
of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Continuous Professional Development of
Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory
developments and changes in order to effectively
perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received
formal, comprehensive and tailored induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors will be arranged
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.
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The records of training and continuous
professional development that have been

received from the Directors for the year ended Rasatm T -
31 March 2024 are summarized as follows:
Type of
Training"“*®
Directors 2= & B =
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Hui Pui Sing B A A&B AKB
Ms. Tong Man Wah mHEL L A&B AKB
Mr. Hui Yip Ho Eric ERKE A&B AKB
Mr. Kong Man Ho IXZRE A&B AKB
Non-Executive Director HBITEE
Mr. Wong Chun Man FlEXEAE B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BV HHITEE
Mr. Chan Ching Sum ?L‘tﬁlmf‘ﬁ_’{ A
Mr. Leung Ho Chi EEEA A&B AKB
Mr. Tse Yung Hoi uﬁT/%/ﬁEi{
(Resigned on 1 March 2024) (R-F_mFE=H—HEE) A
Ms. Ng Wing Sze Vince REBLZL
(Appointed on 1 March 2024) (/FAf TopNF = H—HEZ) A&B AKB
Notes: M -
Types of training R
A Attending training sessions, including but not limited A: HEENEE - BEETRRER

68

to, briefings, seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals,
magazines and relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority
and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.
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All members of the Audit Committee and the majority of
the members of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

(1

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Leung Ho Chi, Mr. Chan Ching Sum and
Ms. Ng Wing Sze Vince. Mr. Leung Ho Chi is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code and was amended on 13
December 2018. The main duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial information and reporting process,
risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope
of audit and appointment of external auditors,
and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit
Committee held three meetings to review the
annual financial results and report for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024, interim
financial results and report for the six months
ended 30 September 2023 and significant
issues on the financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems
and internal audit function, change of external
auditors, and arrangements for employees to
raise concerns about possible improprieties.
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(2) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. Hui Yip Ho Eric, executive
Director, and Ms. Ng Wing Sze Vince and Mr.
Leung Ho Chi, independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Leung Ho Chi is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the CG Code. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include
determining the remuneration packages of all
executive Directors and senior management,
making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors
and the remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management of
the Company; and establishing a formal and
transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his/her associates will be
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed and approved by means
of a meeting and written resolutions the
remuneration package of the newly appointed
independent non-executive Director, reviewed
the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and made recommendations to the
Board on the salary adjustment of the executive
Directors and senior management for the
financial year ending 31 March 2024.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
the remuneration of the senior management
(except Directors) of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2024 by band is set out below:

EEERRE

BIEPEERTR ZFRAEXE
E15E  ARRIEREERECTE
BEIEIREBEZE-_S_ME=A=
+—BIEFEUNSES D 2 HIH
FEAT

Number of
individuals

AE

Nil to HKD1,000,000

£%1,000,000/7% 7T

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. Hui Pui Sing, executive
Director, and Mr. Chan Ching Sum and Mr.
Leung Ho Chi, independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Hui Pui Sing is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board,
developing and formulating relevant procedures
for the nomination and appointment of Directors,
assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and making recommendation to the
Board on matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment and succession planning of
Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the
Nomination Committee would take into account
various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity as set out in the Company’s
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee would discuss and agree on
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board, where necessary, and recommend
them to the Board for adoption.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates
for directorships, the Nomination Committee
would also consider the criteria as set out in the
Company’s Director Nomination Procedures,
including but not limited to, character, integrity,
qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience and
other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business, and achieve board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to
the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination
Committee approved and proposed by means
of a meeting and written resolutions appointment
of the independent non-executive Director,
reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, and
considered the qualifications of the retiring
Directors standing for election at the annual
general meeting. The Nomination Committee
also made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Directors during the Reporting
Period.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity
Policy which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. The Company recognizes
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in maintaining the
Company’s competitive advantage.

Vico International Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2023/2024

(4)

REELAKESEES AER -
REAZEERNEFTSRAAER
A MAZRERARAES
RARFANER > BFRETRR
R - =R BE - Bl A3
B M B AR E AR AR R B E A AR
MrEkEEESEZTL(HE
A e

RBEHRHE REZEECRAS
R EERBROTAMER R
REBUFATES  RIEFS
ZORIE -~ RE AR A BB FE
TEREZH M UEBRRRREA
FRELBEZREEFZER -
REZBETINBEHRRMERCEE
ERNEERRHEHEBER -

EEEHES T IHE
AARRMEEERE S TR
% HARSHEHEEES TN
Bk o AARMELRIEEES
i A EEE S KT
BB L FHR(ER R A AR EE
BHBRAE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the
Nomination Committee will review annually the
structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure
that the Board maintains a balanced diverse
profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the
Board composition, the Nomination Committee
is committed to diversity at all levels and will
consider a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and regional and industry
experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives that are
relevant to the Company’s business growth and
is also committed to ensuring that recruitment
and selection practices at all levels (from the
Board downwards) are appropriately structured
so that a diverse range of candidates are
considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable
objectives to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and review such objectives from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and
ascertain the progress made towards achieving
those objectives.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the
composition of the Board from a diversity
perspective. At present, the Board has a total
of eight Directors, including four executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. All the
four executive Directors hold key positions in
the Group, such as chairman of the board,
chief executive officer, general manager,
administration manager and marketing manager.
They have professional experience in corporate
management and administration fields, and in-
depth knowledge about fleet cards industry.
Among the non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors, there
are professional generalist in financial field,
licensed representative under the Securities
and Futures Commission, standing committee
member of the Chinese General Chamber of
Commerce, life honorary president of Hong Kong
Chinese Securities Association, fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. They are proficient in the
requirements of Hong Kong capital market and
international accounting standards. Also, the
Board has two female Directors who, together
with other Directors, offer professional opinions
to the Company in their respective fields.
The Nomination Committee believes that the
Board has diversification in terms of gender,
age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, and knowledge.
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board REREFEXNEZTLERE 2
Diversity Policy, the following measurable AT A2 B AZ -
objectives were adopted:
An analysis of the Board’s current composition BB EERHESE B ATAK
based on the measurable objectives is set out B AITE ST
below:
Gender Age Group
5l FiiE Bl
Male: 6 Directors 31-40: 3 Directors
St :6BES 31-405% : 3RESF
Female: 2 Directors 41-50: 3 Directors
zE 2R ESE 41-505% : BRESE

61-70: 2 Directors

61-705% : 2R ESE
Designation Educational Background
B HEER
Executive Directors: 4 Directors Business Administration: 5 Directors
HITES 48EF ITHER :5%&EF
Non-executive Directors: 1 Director Account and Finance: 4 Directors
FEHITES  12ES G hER 4BES
Independent Non-executive Directors: 3 Directors Corporate Governance: 1 Director
B IEHITES : 3RES hEES 1RESF

Other: 2 Directors

Hfth : 282EH
Nationality Business Experience
Chinese: 8 Directors Accounting & Finance: 4 Directors
hECBRESF SR c 4R EF

International Business: 3 Directors
BIRER : 3BES

Logistics: 3 Directors

M 3RESE

Marketing: 3 Directors

Migadl : 3BES
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The Nomination Committee and the Board are
of the view that the current composition of the
Board has achieved the objectives set in the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all
levels of the Group. The following table sets out
the gender ratio in the workforce of the Group,
including the Board and senior management as
at the date of this Annual Report:

BRTMAKREZREEEXNESZ T
LSRR ER BT

REZEEREHNESTENESTT
LR AE ) ARERE AR -

(IS4
ARBBRAKEMEBHEAMER
Zitft o TREIINAFERA LA
SEET(BREEZEhERER
B) KM RILEL I -

Female Male

g i3 B

Board BE=g 25% 75%
2) (6)

Senior Management EREEE 100% 0%
2) (0)

Other employees HitES 41.7% 58.3%
(10) (14)

Overall workforce BEZEN 41.2% 58.8%
(14) (20)

The Board had targeted to achieve and had
achieved at least 25% (2) of female Directors,
100% (2) of female senior management and
40% (10) of female employees of the Group and
considers that the above current gender diversity
is satisfactory.
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Details on the gender ratio of the Group
together with relevant data can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
on pages 22 to 60 of this Annual Report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities
and authority for selection and appointment of
Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a Director
Nomination Policy which sets out the selection
criteria and process and the Board succession
planning considerations in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors and aims to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the
factors for assessing the suitability and the
potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the
following:

° Character and integrity;

O Qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity aspects under
the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant
to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy;

° Any measurable objectives adopted for
achieving diversity on the Board,;

()
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° Requirement for the Board to have
independent directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and whether
the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

o Any potential contributions the candidate
can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate
time to discharge duties as a member of
the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company; and

° Such other perspectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business
and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/
or amended by the Board and/or the
Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the
procedures for the selection and appointment
of new Directors and re-election of Directors at
general meetings. During the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this Annual Report, there
were changes in the composition of the Board
and details of the changes are set out in the
section headed “Board Composition” of this
Corporate Governance Report.

The Nomination Committee will review the
Director Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure its effectiveness.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The terms of reference of the Board for corporate
governance functions include, among others,
(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance
and made recommendations to the Board;
(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training
and continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management; (iii)
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (iv) developing,
reviewing and monitoring the compliance of the
Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines (if
any) applicable to employees and Directors; and
(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

(6)
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The attendance record of each Director at the Board
meeting, Board committee meetings and annual general
meeting of the Company held during the Reporting
Period is set out in the table below:

D. EEBCEBHFERLH

TREJIBREZTHERRESHHBTZ
ARBIEFEEH EFZEEERER
RBFANE 20

Attendance/Number of Meetings

i/ V- V8 |

Annual

Nomination Remuneration Audit General

Board Committee Committee ~ Committee Meeting

Name of Director Expf EEE REZEE HMEEE BENEZEE RREAFA®

Hui Pui Sing b 5/5 1/1 = = 11

Tong Man Wah mHE 5/5 = = = o

Hui Yip Ho Eric TER 5/5 = i = 1/1

Kong Man Ho IXF 5/5 - - - 1/1

Wong Chun Man FEX 5/5 = = = 17

Chan Ching Sum BHE 55 1/1 = 33 1/1
Tse Yung Hoi HEFR-E-mF

(Resigned on 1 March 2024) ZA—RET) 404 = = 33 17

Leung Ho Chi RES 5/5 11 11 313 1
Ng Wing Sze Vince REB(R-F_mF

(Appointed on 1 March 2024) ZH-HEZF) 1 = 1 = =

Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman
also held a meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors during
the year. Apart from the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 28 September 2023, no other general
meeting was held during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the
risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks
it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Audit Committee and Internal Control Consultant
assist the Board in leading the management and
overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including sales and customers’
management, project management and financial
reporting, human resources.

The Company’s risk management and internal control
systems have been developed with the following
principles, features and processes:

All departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the
business of the Group and various aspects including
key operational and financial processes, regulatory
compliance and information security. Self-evaluation
has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each division/
department.
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The management, in coordination with division/
department heads, assessed the likelihood of risk
occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor
the risk management progress, and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the financial year ended 31 March
2024.

The Company has engaged external professional firm
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems.
The internal audit function examined key issues in
relation to the accounting practices and all material
control and provided its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as
well as the management report and the internal audit
findings, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational
and compliance controls, for the financial year ended
31 March 2024, and considered that such systems are
effective and adequate. The annual review also covered
the financial reporting and internal audit function and
staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of
the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company.
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The Company has developed its disclosure policy
which sets out guidelines to the Directors, officers and
all relevant employees of the Group to ensure inside
information of the Company is to be disseminated to the
public in equal and timely manner in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure
that unauthorized access and use of inside information
are strictly prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on
the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report in this Annual Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s
external auditors in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 March 2024
amounted to HK$550,000 and HK$150,000 respectively.
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An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external
auditors of the Company, Prism Hong Kong and
Shanghai Limited, in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set

ARBBE_Z_WNF=A=+—RHILF
BB RIS KIEBA RN T ARA
SRR BN E R e SR E AR A
AZFHHMOMEINOT

out below:
Fees Paid/
Payable
Service Category AR % Bl B EAEA
(HK$'000)
(F%&7)
Audit Services EET RS
- Annual audit for the year ended 31 March - HEZE-_Z_NNF=A=+—H
2024 IFFEZFEET 550
Non-audit Services IEEET IR
— Interim review for the six months ended -HE_ZE-_=FNLA=TH
30 September 2023 1ENE A 2 A BAZE 150
TOTAL 5T 700

H. NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

The controlling shareholders of the Company (namely,
Max Fortune Holdings Limited, Mr. Hui Pui Sing,
Ms. Tong Man Wah and Mr. Hui Yip Ho Eric) (the
“Controlling Shareholders”) entered into a deed of
non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) with
the Company (for itself and as trustee of each of its
subsidiaries) on 16 January 2018.

Each Controlling Shareholder has undertaken under the
Deed of Non-competition to provide to the Company
and the Directors (including the independent non-
executive Directors) from time to time all information
necessary for the annual review by the independent
non-executive Directors with regard to compliance with
the terms of the Deed of Non-competition during the
Restricted Period (as defined in the prospectus of the
Company dated 30 January 2018) by the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective close associates.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders” in the prospectus.
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Each Controlling Shareholder has made an annual
declaration as to compliance with the terms of the
Deed of Non-competition during the year under review.
The independent non-executive Directors, based on
the information available to them, has reviewed and
consider that the terms of the Deed of Non-competition
has been complied by each Controlling Shareholder.

COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 March 2024, Ms. Chan Sze
Ting was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company on 24 June 2020. Ms. Chan is a director of
Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services
provider specializing in integrated business, corporate
and investor services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of
the company secretary on corporate governance and
board practices and matters. Mr. Hui Yip Ho Eric, the
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer has
been designated as the primary contact person at the
Company which would work and communicate with
Ms. Chan on the Company’s corporate governance
and secretarial and administrative matters for the year
ended 31 March 2024, pursuant to Code Provision
C.6.1 of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, Ms. Chan Sze
Ting has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training respectively in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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The Company engages with shareholders through
various communication channels and a shareholders’
communication policy is in place to ensure that
shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure
its effectiveness.

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual Director. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

1) Convening Extraordinary General Meeting

Extraordinary general meetings may be
convened on the requisition of one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company
pursuant to the Articles. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Directors or the company
secretary of the Company for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person
other than a retiring Director for election as
a Director at a general meeting, pursuant to
the Articles, the shareholder (other than the
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend
and vote at the general meeting shall send a
written notice, duly signed by the shareholder,
of his/her intention to propose such person
for election and also a notice signed by the
person to be proposed of his/her willingness to
be elected. These notices should be lodged at
the Company’s head office or the office of the
Company’s branch share registrar as mentioned
below. The period for lodgement of such notices
shall commence on the day after the despatch
of the notice of such general meeting and end
no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

()
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Shareholders may send their enquiries or
requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit D, 11/F, Billion Plaza I, No. 10
Cheung Yue Street, Cheung Sha
Wan, Hong Kong

Attention: Board of Directors

Tel: (852) 2728 8820

Email: cs@vicointernational.hk

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about
their shareholdings, share transfer, registration
and payment of dividend to the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, details of
which are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address: 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

Shareholders are encouraged to make enquires
via the online enquiry form available on the
Company’s website at www.vicointernational.hk
and are reminded to lodge their questions
together with their detailed contact information
for the prompt response from the Company
if it deems appropriate. The Company will
not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication
with shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and investor understanding of the Group’s
business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meetings and other general meetings. At the annual
general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

POLICIES RELATING TO SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’
Communication Policy to ensure that shareholders’
views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The
policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on
payment of dividends on 13 December 2018. The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. Depending on the financial conditions of
the Company and the Group and the conditions and
factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may
be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a
financial year and any final dividend for a financial year
will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

COMPANY’S CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Reporting Period.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Current Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements. The principal
activities of the Group are the operation of the business of the
sales of diesel, lubricant oil and others and provision of fleet
cards service.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Current Period and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out
in the accompanying financial statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 223 to 224 of this report. This summary does not form
part of the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2024 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Current Period are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the Current Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 116 and
note 28 to the consolidated financial statement respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company did not have any reserves
available for distribution (as at 31 March 2023: Nil).

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the Current Period, the Company did not make any
charitable donations (as at 31 March 2023: HK$10,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Current Period and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. HUI Pui Sing (Chairman)
Ms. TONG Man Wah

Mr. HUI Yip Ho Eric

Mr. KONG Man Ho

Non-executive Director
Mr. WONG Chun Man

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Ching Sum

Mr. LEUNG Ho Chi

Mr. TSE Yung Hoi (resigned on 1 March 2024)

Ms. Ng Wing Sze Vince (appointed on 1 March 2024)
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In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association,
Ms. NG Wing Sze Vince, who has been appointed by the
Board to fill casual vacancy, will hold office until the AGM.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Ms. TONG Man
Wah, Mr. WONG Chun Man and Mr. CHAN Ching Sum will
retire at the AGM. All the retiring directors being eligible will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from each independent non-executive Director
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three
years, unless terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other
subject to the provision of retirement and rotation of
Directors under the Articles.

(b) Non-executive Director

The non-executive Director has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of one
year commencing from his date of appointment and
subsequently renewed for a further term of one year
in year 2024 subject to the provision of retirement
and rotation of Directors under the Articles. Such
appointment may be terminated by not less than two
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.
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(c) Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of one year commencing from the respective
date of appointment and subsequently renewed for
a further term of one year in year 2024 subject to the
provision of retirement and rotation of Directors under
the Articles. Such appointment may be terminated by
not less than two months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries,
as applicable) within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 14 to 20 of this
Annual Report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company by reference to the
benchmarking of the market. The Company also looks into
individual Director's competence, duties, responsibilities and
performance.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from each independent non-executive Director
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS BEENBRSITHAERADTRG RHEBERKR
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND HHERRRE
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the RZZ_WNF=A=+—H BE2EREARAES
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the share  {TERABRAR QA H IR EAE (FE R EH L
capital and underlying shares and debentures of the Company — E &1 ([ 3 2 & & 4B ) BXVER) 2 B A K M8 78
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part &P M EEETIREBS LB EIEHIE 352158
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”), as AR RQARAFTENECMANEE AR » 5
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company  RIFIZESFRIZBRITHE AR E M2 FrayE s
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to ~ MXRFIE T :

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the RAEQXF KRG REERDNEFRE
Company

Approximate
shareholding

percentage
in the issued
Number of share capital
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares™ of the Company
LA RABE BT
IR B9 BEAY
EEnE EEMtE RHEHEO BRESL
(%)
Mr. Hui Interest in a controlled corporation® and 730,000,000 (L) 73
interest of spouse®
A REGEAEERO LA BRERO
Ms. Tong Interest in a controlled corporation® and 730,000,000 (L) 73
interest of spouse®
HE T RPEGEE RO R BERO
Mr. Eric Hui Interest in a controlled corporation® 730,000,000 (L) 73
FEREE RiEHERE R
Notes: Mt -
1. The letter (L) denotes the person’s long position in such Shares. 1. FRILIEZBEATREEROLTE -
2. Max Fortune was owned by Mr. Hui, Ms. Tong and Mr. Eric Huiasto 2. BREARMLE BRI RTAEREEDFIFAEISS%
35%, 35% and 30%, respectively. Under the SFO, each of Mr. Hui, 35% KR 30% R - RIFEFHFRAEKRD - FFE4%E -
Ms. Tong and Mr. Eric Hui was deemed to be interested in all of the BERTRAEREEZAERERRNERHENEE
730,000,000 Shares held by Max Fortune. 730,000,0008% B 19 A #E %5 ©
3. Mr. Hui is the spouse of Ms. Tong. Ms. Tong and Mr. Hui were deemed 3. HRERSHLITHERR - BRI RAEERBEIFR
under the SFO to be interested in the Shares held, directly or indirectly, HERPI DRI R BN RERSK T EESEER
by Mr. Hui and Ms. Tong, respectively. BORG P AR o
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Long positions in the shares of the associated corporation RIEESEZE(EEZREFRBE KA 2ROV EF

(as defined in the SFO) B
Approximate
shareholding
percentage
of the
associated
Name of corporation’s
associated Number of issued share
Name of Director corporation Nature of interest shares Class of shares capital
AR EE
BEITRE
R RS
BEEpE HELEER ERME RABE REOER BAK
Mr. Hui® Max Fortune® Beneficial interest and interest 700  Ordinary shares 35%
of spouse!”
TEED b3l EnEm R EERD TER
Ms. Tong!" Max Fortune® Beneficial interest and interest 700  Ordinary shares 35%
of spouse!”
B0 SR EnkEn M EER" Tk
Mr. Eric Hui Max Fortune® Beneficial interest 600  Ordinary shares 30%
TEREE §BR@ EnEn 3l
Notes: Bt -
1. Mr. Hui is the spouse of Ms. Tong. Ms. Tong and Mr. Hui were deemed 1. HRERSXLIHERR - BRXTRFAEERBEIFR
under the SFO to be interested in the shares of Max Fortune held, HERPI D RIER AR EERSK T EESEER
directly or indirectly, by Mr. Hui and Ms. Tong, respectively. BRIBEEAR D P A RS o
2. Max Fortune was interested in 730,000,000 Shares, representing 73% of 2. §£BA+FH 730,000,000 B # et + IEARNARIE FHITR
the issued share capital of the Company. Max Fortune was therefore a R73% o Bt - BEAASEF RBEEAM S /AEQA
holding company and an associated corporation of the Company for the BFEAR A A RABEEEE o

purpose of the SFO.

Save for each of Mr. Hui and Mr. Eric Hui being a director of  BREFEAERFES L EBRIANESI R -_T
Max Fortune, as at 31 March 2024, none of the other Directors Z—PMHE=A=+—H - #HiEEMES NI AR T
were directors or employees of a company which had an &) MIEERO P HEEEZSABEN A RIETE
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of ~EE /B B MBREEH M EIEHIEXVEE2 KL
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company 537 &8 WA R AIEHHEE °

under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

2023202458 HEEBRERARAT 95



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had an interest and/or short position
(as applicable) in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any interests and/or short positions (as
applicable) in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company’s associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which (i) will have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), (ii) will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or (iii) will
be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company whose interests
are disclosed above) and corporations had or were deemed or
taken to have an interest and/or a short position in the Shares
or the underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

B EXRBEEN  BEREMNEERARRRZST
BABRARREB D - HEARDKEEETHE
Bz kAR (MER) - SRR R AR EE
(EEREZLBEGOIEXVER) 2D -
Mefn sk EHERE YRR R R RSO R (Wi
) Mm)RERH RMEGIIEXVEBHE7RES
DEAMEARRNR R (BERIEZE SIS
BB B0 B2 SRR B MRS BAR B B B a8 Bk
B~ (NVRBE S MR RPI B 3521% AR A X 5
Fris B R AR INRBEFEETHEMNGEARE R
B o

FERRRAQ ARG REBERD SR

g A
RBE

RZZE-WMFE=ZA=+—H U FAT(EEZER
RNElmEmITBABRIN - EfEmn LR k&
ERIG RAER D P A G ERE (EES
RIEE S R EEMNEXVIE 2R E3D BRIEL
BRARR MBI ENERS LSRR

NS

Approximate
shareholding
percentage in
the Company’s

Number of issued share
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares™ capital
HERLAFE
BITRAMN
BRRER EEMtE BROEEO HAFKREIL
(%)
Max Fortune® Beneficial owner 730,000,000 (L) 73
BkRA@ EmEAEA
Notes: Mt -
1. The Letter (L) denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 1. FRLEZBATRROFHTE -
2. Max Fortune was owned by Mr. Hui, Ms. Tong and Mr. Eric Hui asto 2. SREARFTEE BRI RFAEZREEDRIFHEFIS%

35%, 35% and 30%, respectively.
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Save as disclosed above and those disclosed under the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company” - the Directors are not aware of any other person or
corporation who has any interest or short position in the Shares
and underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business, to which the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors or an entity
connected with the Directors had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was entered into.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for those disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares
and Underlying Shares of the Company” and “Share Option
Scheme” in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2024, other than the service contracts of
the Directors, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the
whole or any principal business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Current Period, the Directors are not aware of
any business and interest of the Directors nor the controlling
shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or
may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflict of interests which any such person has or may have
with the Group.

The Company has received from each of the Directors
an annual confirmation of his/her undertaking as to non-
competition with the business of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was conditionally adopted by the written resolutions of the
shareholders of the Company on 16 January 2018.

The following is a summary of the terms of the Share Option
Scheme:

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward
Eligible Participants (as defined in paragraph (2) below)
who have contributed to the Group and to encourage
Eligible Participants to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company and the Shares for the benefit of
the Company and the shareholders as a whole.
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Participants

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer to grant
an option to the following persons (collectively the
“Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for such number
of Shares as the Board may determine at an exercise
price determined in accordance with paragraph (7)
below:

(A) any full-time or part-time employees, executives
or officers of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries;

(B) any directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; and

(C) any advisers, consultants, agents, suppliers,
customers, distributors and such other persons
who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will
contribute or have contributed to our Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries.

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time. The
maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company must
not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of listing of the Shares.
The maximum number of Shares that may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme was 100 million
Shares, representing 10% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the Listing Date. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting. As at the date of this
Annual Report, no share options have been granted
since adoption of the Share Option Scheme and there
were no outstanding share options.
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Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of our Company (including both
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) to each
Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue as at the date of grant.
Any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit
must be separately approved by the shareholders in
general meeting of the Company with such Eligible
Participant and his/her associates (or his/her associates
if the Eligible Participant is a core connected person)
abstaining from voting.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up
under an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the
date on which it is granted or such shorter period as the
Board may specify at the time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must be
held

No minimum period for which the option has to be held
before it can be exercised is specified in the Share
Option Scheme.

Basis of determining the exercise price of an option

The exercise price shall be such price as the Board in
its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such
price must be at least the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.

Validity of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will
expire on 5 March 2028 unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
As at the date of this Annual Report, the Share Option
Scheme had a remaining life of approximately 5 years.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of
turnover attributed to the Group’s largest and the five largest
customers accounted for 18.6% and 62.8% (2023: 14.9% and
48.7%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively. For the
year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s purchase from the
largest and the five largest suppliers accounted for 88.7%
and 89.5% (2023: 96.5% and 96.9%) of the total purchases of
the Group, respectively. At no time during the year ended 31
March 2024 did the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares) have any interest in the Group’s major
customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not
enter into any transactions which need to be disclosed as
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the
significant transactions with related parties are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements. These related
party transactions did not constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. Remuneration paid to key management
personnel of the Group, including Directors described in note
13 to the consolidated financial statements, are continuing
connected transactions exempt from the connected transaction
requirements under Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that during the Current Period, the
Company has complied with all the code provisions as set out
in the CG Code.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive or similar rights under
the laws of the Caymans Islands or the Articles which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing shareholders of the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that every Director, secretary and other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which they may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of their offices or otherwise
in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect
of the relevant legal actions against the Directors.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the
year, principal risks and uncertainties facing the company and
the material factors underlying its results and financial position
can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set
out on pages 6 to 13 of this Annual Report. These discussions
form part of this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

In order to ensure compliance with ESG strategies and
reporting requirements, the Board oversees the Group’s
ESG risk management and internal control systems. Detailed
information on the environmental, social and governance
measures adopted by the Group is set out in the sections
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 22 to 60 of this report.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2024 AGM will be held on Wednesday, 11 September
2024, the notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders of
the Company in accordance with the Articles, Listing Rules
and other applicable laws and regulations.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three members, all of whom
are independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LEUNG
Ho Chi, Mr. CHAN Ching Sum and Ms. NG Wing Sze Vince.
Mr. LEUNG Ho Chi is the chairman of the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee has written terms of reference in compliance
with the Listing Rules and the CG Code.

The Audit Committee has in conjunction with the management
reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed risk management, internal controls
and financial reporting matters of the Group. The Audit
Committee has no disagreement with the accounting treatment
adopted by the Company. The consolidated annual results of
the Group for the Current Period have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
Annual General Meeting

The 2024 AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on
11 September 2024. For the purpose of determining the
entitlement to attend the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed during the period from 6 September
2024 to 11 September 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of share(s) of the Company will be effected.
In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all
transfer document(s), accompanied by the relevant share
certificate(s), must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited
of 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 5 September
2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules as at the date of this report.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

The changes in directors’ information as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since
the publication of the Company’s interim report for the six
months ended 30 September 2023 are set out below:

(1)

Mr. Hui, executive Director, is entitled to a salary of
HK$1,235,000 per annum and a discretionary bonus
with effect from 1 April 2024.

Ms. Tong, executive Director, is entitled to a salary of
HK$1,235,000 per annum and a discretionary bonus
with effect from 1 April 2024.

Mr. Eric Hui, executive Director, is entitled to a salary
of HK$1,235,000 per annum and a discretionary bonus
with effect from 1 April 2024.

Mr. Kong, executive Director, is entitled to a salary of
HK$514,800 per annum and a discretionary bonus with
effect from 1 April 2024.

Mr. WONG Chun Man, non-executive Director, renewed
his letter of appointment for a further term of one year
commencing from 1 April 2024 and is not entitled to any
director’s fee.

Mr. CHAN Ching Sum, independent non-executive
Director, renewed his letter of appointment for a further
term of one year commencing from 12 April 2024.

Mr. LEUNG Ho Chi, independent non-executive
Director, renewed his letter of appointment for a further
term of one year commencing from 1 April 2024.

Ms. Ng Wing Sze Vince, independent non-executive
Director, is entitled to an annual director’s fee of
HK$120,000 with effect from 1 March 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there is no material
subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the
Group after the Current Period and up to the date of this report.
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AUDITORS

On 4 April 2023, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
("SHINEWING”) resigned as the auditor of the Company and
Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited was appointed as
the auditor of the Company on 4 April 2023 to fill the casual
vacancy arising from the resignation of SHINEWING. There
have been no other changes in auditors in the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Prism
Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited as the auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

HUI Pui Sing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

2B ED
RZZB_=FMAMA - kP M(EE) ST
A=A R A B (MERH M) BHERRQ B ZE
- MEigRBEAMEBRAERAAN T
“FOANBRZESARRZEE - NEMAE
KA FBHEELNERRER - RBE=F - ZH
A I 8 Ho At £ B o

REMBHRREHR LEBEBASTMEBMERA
AEZ - LERASHMEBMARAFTBR
T EREERLBMEBEEREL - ARAERE
ERREFAE LRE-BRAR - UWEELS
BREFENEBAMAR QR AARBEZEED -

REREF®

E:1
FomER

BB —ET-NMFA-+HH

2023/2024F % e B ERER AR

105



106

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BE RS

Dk
T

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF VICO INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Vico International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 113 to 222, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
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consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Valuation of trade receivables

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies on pages 155 to 163.

The key audit matter
BREZBR

5 R (41
BEMRAN B RRN E0RE156E163ANE
S -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ENEERREREE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had trade receivables
of HK$47,284,000, with accumulated loss allowance
for impairment of trade receivables of approximately
HK$1,270,000.

RZZEZMFE=A=+—H  BEEMNEZEKIE
747,284,000/ 7T B 5 RYKIERERABREEL
1,270,000/ 7T °

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables is
based on lifetime expected credit losses model, which
is estimated by taking into account the credit loss
experience and forward looking information including
both current and forecast general economic conditions.
BIRBHEBERERBHDERTHEHEEERER
RAZEEEBBEBREAIEEER(RERR KB
BELBERER)MEEL -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of trade
receivables included:

BMERE B REFRGENEF B

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectives of the valuer and management;
AMELEMRERENER - e REEIMT

- Obtaining an understanding from the valuer and
management about the valuation methodology,
significant assumptions adopted, key inputs and
data used in the valuation and how the valuers
and management justify the methodology and
assumptions used;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Valuation of trade receivables (Continued)

The key audit matter
HRBEZSBR

BREEXLEE (R
B 5 BUYCRIR M E ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EHNAEERRERER

We have identified valuation of trade receivables as a
key audit matter because the impairment assessment
of trade receivables involved a significant degree
of management estimation and may be subject
to management bias. To support management’s
assessment of the ECLs, the Group engaged an
external valuer to perform assessment on the ECLs of
the trade receivables at the end of the reporting period.
BMERFEFREFBGER —HEREZEE
RESRYGIENREN G RERIRENERE LT
RAREXEBEHMEMTE - RXHEREN ARG
EEE - EBESEZBEILEMERESHARNESE
WHIEH TREAE BB IR TTRT A o
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Testing the accuracy of the historical default
data and evaluating whether the historical loss
rates are appropriately adjusted based on
current economic conditions and forward-looking
information;

RARE AT IR KBTI ERDASE L2 OH
BOEEERTEESBEXRREZHE

Testing on a sample basis the accuracy of
management’s aging analysis and subsequent
settlement of trade receivables based on
supporting documents;
BEXFXHHEAREEEYHE S RUGKIEAR
DT R BHEEHERIE

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of the loss allowance; and

BEBRBETENEMERNE - &

Evaluating the adequacy of disclosures related to
expected credit losses on trade receivables.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion,
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Dai Tin Yau.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Dai Tin Yau

Practising Certificate Number: P06318
Hong Kong

25 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SmEBREREMEZEKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #iZ - - =A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—E-lE ZEZ=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FHET
Revenue g 7 1,595,083 1,017,037
Cost of sales SHEKA (1,546,744) (972,344)
Gross profit EF 48,339 44,693
Other income E i A 9 2,806 5,331
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RO MY (4,657) (6,417)
Administrative and operating THREEREZ
expenses (23,696) (29,195)
Finance costs BbE A 10 (1,456) (1,514)
Profit before tax B A5t A& A 21,336 12,898
Income tax expense Frig®if 2 11 (4,403) (4,102)
Profit and total comprehensive FRENREERERE
income for the year 12 16,933 8,796
Earnings per share (HK cents) B AR (L)
Basic and diluted ERREE 15 1.69 0.88

2023/2024F % HEBKFERER AT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e M IARR R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2024 R =—ZF—N&¥=A=+—H

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k23 FHBxT FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRE R 16 123,332 70,782
Investment properties KEME 17 7,197 67,337
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 664 2,413
131,193 140,532
Current assets REBEE
Inventories BE 19 11,602 10,556
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E b GIE 20 90,348 67,246
Amount due from ultimate holding JE WS AR AR AR A R SR IE
company 21 72 59
Income tax recoverable AT Bl Fr SR 4 268
Time deposit EHFR 22 5,791 9,421
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 22 34,160 32,734
141,977 120,284
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M ENFRIE 23 10,382 8,098
Lease liabilities HEaE 18 790 1,737
Bank borrowings RITIEE 24 34,369 43,773
Income tax payables FEfFTIS L 4,231 978
49,772 54,586
Net current assets RBEEFE 92,205 65,698
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PR R R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2024 W= =—W&F=H=+—H

2024 2023

—E-MmF —E-=F

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

Bt FHBxT FHET

Total assets less current liabilities #EERGEBAEES 223,398 206,230
Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Lease liabilities HERE 18 = 790

Provision for long service payments KRB EBE 29 242 -

Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIRAE 25 3,133 2,350

3,375 3,140

Net assets EEFE 220,023 203,090
Capital and reserves EXREE

Share capital &% 7 26 10,000 10,000

Reserves s 210,023 193,090

Total equity BEER 220,023 203,090

The consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 222
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 25 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Hui Pui Sing
MR
Director

EE

Tong Man Wah
ERE
Director

EF

2023/2024F 3%  HEBEBRERERAR

FNSE222BE MR EVBHRREN ST UE N
A-thHHEZESERTETE  TH T
BEERRER:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREESBR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

Share Share Capital Retained
capital premium reserve profits Total
BRAE ROBE BEXRE KREEF st

HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

(Note)
(Hiat)
At 1 April 2022 i
mA—H 10,000 62,978 28,272 93,044 194,294
Profit and total FNm M &
comprehensive income FHKERE
for the year - - - 8,796 8,796
At 31 March 2023 and i ——
1 April 2023 SFSr—E
&— 7 ——qz
mA—H 10,000 62,978 28,272 101,840 203,090
Profit and total FREF R
comprehensive income EWELRTE
for the year - - - 16,933 16,933
At 31 March 2024 R_T_MEF
=A=+—H 10,000 62,978 28,272 118,773 220,023
Note: Bt -

Capital reserve includes (i) the difference of approximately HK$596,000 between & 7 fz# %’E?ﬁ(i)%ﬁi: T-NF=ZA=+—RHLEFE KA
the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company for the acquisition ~ RIFURBRE L AR AR QG (B8 ]) 2 BESMETHRAR
of the entire interests in Billion Harvest Ventures Limited (“Billion Harvest’) and EEELRAmMEZEAZEEL596,0008 T L(iVEE -
the nominal value of share capital of Billion Harvest during the year ended 31 NEFE=ZA=+—BLFE  BEAFFHERTE(FEEDDLY
March 2018 and (i) capitalisation of the amount due to Mr. Hui Pui Sing (“Mr. 27,676,000/ 7T & AL » B 722 &80 2% K 2577 25088 A BR DI 1E AL
Hui”) of approximately HK$27,676,000 which the Company allotted and issued @RI FRFEAL -

250 shares, credited as fully paid, to Mr. Hui during the year ended 31 March

2018.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HmERTMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mEF ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FHAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEIEE)
Profit before tax B 35 B4 A 21,336 12,898
Adjustments for: BT HIEELFE
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE
equipment 8,189 6,123
Depreciation of investment properties WEMENE 322 2,464
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 1,749 2,129
(Reversal of) impairment loss on trade B 5 EBGRIERERE
receivables, net (B&[0)F%58 (2,302) 3,572
Impairment loss on other receivables E At JE W R IE R (B S 18 49 =
Impairment loss on investment properties & & ¥ 5 R EE 12 318 =
Finance costs BB KA 1,456 1,514
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BEREHH RS
equipment (1,037) (1,583)
Government subsidies TR #H b - (1,003)
Bank interest income RITHIBUA (495) (187)
Bad debts written off SRS = 362
Reversal of impairment loss on GFEREEIERD
inventories (101) (10)

Operating cash flows before movements  &EE & EBAILER TR

in working capital 29,484 26,279
Increase in inventories FE®EM (945) (2,682)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 R H b e W R IR L A0 (20,849) (17,713)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K HAth FE AT FRIAIE AN 2,526 458
Cash generated from operations KEMSIRE 10,216 6,342
Income tax paid [EANEZIECS (103) (2,614)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETHMEREFHR

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 10,113 3,728
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RELRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—E-INE ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Acquisition of property, plant and IWEEmE - BRE kRS
equipment (1,393) (1,500)
Placements of time deposit & HUE B R (5,791) (9,421)
Advance to ultimate holding company BRTHREIERAE (13) (20)
Withdrawal of time deposit REUE B 9,421 1,026
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEMZE - BERERENERIE
plant and equipment 1,191 2,715
Interest income received BUF B A 495 187
NET CASH GENERATED FROM & EEAEFTA)EEF58
(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3,910 (7,013)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Government subsidies received B U T 7l B = 1,003
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITEE (16,404) (15,136)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEas (1,762) (2,015)
Interest paid BAFE (1,431) (1,433)
Bank borrowings raised P& ERTEE 7,000 =
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING EEEE AT FE
ACTIVITIES (12,597) (17,581)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH ReRBSZEYIEN0RLD) FEE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,426 (20,866)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REA—BONRERREEEY
1 APRIL 32,734 53,600
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R=ZA=+—HHHEs R
31 MARCH ReEEY 34,160 32,734
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR HRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 &2 — T _F=A=+—H It FE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Vico International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Island as an exempted
company with limited liability on 24 March 2017
under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
and its shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 5 March 2018. The Company’s
immediate and ultimate holding company is Max
Fortune Holdings Limited (“Max Fortune”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) with
limited liability. The ultimate controlling parties are Mr.
Hui, Ms. Tong Man Wah (“Ms. Tong"), spouse of Mr.
Hui and Mr. Hui Yip Ho, Eric (“Mr. Eric Hui”), son of Mr.
Hui and Ms. Tong (the “Controlling Shareholders”).
The addresses of the Company’s registered office and
the principal place of business are at Tricor Services
(Cayman Islands) Limited, Third Floor, Century Yard,
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1103 Cayman Islands and Unit D, 11/F, Billion Plaza
I, No. 10 Cheung Yue Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Hong
Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in sales of diesel,
lubricant oil and others and provision of fleet cards
service.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

—REH
HEBEERERERAR(ERATDRZE
—tF=AZTHHAREBERESHEEESF
2B RANE(—NAR—FEIRERE - &
maREERSBESEMKZR—HE
BEREBRAR  EHRMHERZZ—N
FZRATHEEAEBERSMBERRARA
((BRADERLT - AAFEERER
ERATABAERER AT ([BRE] -
ERA—HMREABHBRHES((RBERR
BEDIMAZOHBRAR - &EERA
RETEE  FEERBSEELT(BX
TDEFEERSGELTRFTERESE
(IFFEZEED(ERBRR] - RARE
MwEEREELEMIE MU DB A
Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited,
Third Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square,
P.0. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY1-1103,
Cayman Islands X & KA ERMHE 1057
BRES —H11EDE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M ISR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

120

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 April 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

BEEVBRELNFITR(BE_S_ZF
+AR - - —E - AFBUBRE
ERIZE17HRUEFTAN))

Amendments to HKAS 8

A G ERES (BETA)

Amendments to HKAS 12

R & 4

2.

R EEMBRELEAN(EEM
B SR ) REBRTA

RAFERF LMW T B BREE
B R EAEFT A

RAEE  AEECIEHEGEVBEHEER
BEREATI HEESAMAS(ERE
FEAEDRARASEENR_T_=F0
HA— B8 FE R R S AR ETE
B BREERREERTA

Insurance Contracts

Definition of Accounting Estimates
GEEGTESE

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from

a Single Transaction

BEEGHEAE125UEFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 12
ARG ERE125R(SFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
BEGHEE IR REAMBRE
LR BB wE L 25 USFTA)

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance or the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

R ERMBRELEAN(EEM
B SR ) REMBET A ()

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.1

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the
first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is
material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting
policy information may be material because
of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are
immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an
entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is
material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance but has affected the disclosure
of the Group’s accounting policies set out in
Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

2.1

FEREBEERFINRERY
B EERERREF25% (BT
FENABRZBRBE2HE
RAEE  AEECBERERZE
BRI - BAEGTEAFIRES
MBEBRETAIERGABRE
BRI EZ S EER ] — A
BER - HERBEBMFEHRRAE
EM—GHERE  SFFERREHNT
PS-B-SCUi-E 2 Sl E ey
TEREAERBZEVIERKRAAIE
HEORTE @ IS BRENBE
% o

ZEEFTARTESE - AR KRR
WAEX BERBEIZHE -
HtbFEKIBN  FABRERD
ABEA - AT WIEMAEEKR
Ry Rt FEKIBENEBOEE
BREMAGHBEAXN - fi—HE
BEEREIFSRSITHEER
ERENTSRESASTRRE
£t o

RV B HREENEHRE 25
TEHEAX A BT ([ BIERE ) TR
ERT - U — BB ME &M
PEFEEANERIEIEBREF

BRWERAG AR - BETHER
MERBEPBRRELTBERX -
EBRECEMEEERRED -

ERZEFET AT H AR EUE
PRRARKBELEATE  BEF
ERAWBRRMISAEAEE
SRR ZEKE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B BRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

122

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of
the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) —
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong

In June 2022 the Hong Kong SAR Government
(the “Government”) gazetted the Hong
Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (“Offsetting Arrangement”)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Once
the Amendment Ordinance takes effect, an
employer can no longer use any of the accrued
benefits derived from its mandatory contributions
to mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) scheme
to reduce the long service payment (“LSP”)
in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect
of the service before the Transition Date will be
calculated based on the employee’s monthly
salary immediately before the Transition Date
and the years of service up to that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERFIEEUBHREZEN(ERY
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 3 EER ) REERT A ()
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2  Change in accounting policy as a result of 22 EAEBESHMASHNEBIVER

application of the HKICPA guidance on the FliEAES((RES)ERARE
accounting implications of the abolition of 2(RESDEHHFINEHHE
the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — B ZIESI MBS BERENE
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting ) (&)
mechanism in Hong Kong (Continued)
In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting RZBZ=F+H BEGFHIRQ
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP gRMAEERERESEERS
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” that HHogslnegteE]  RIEEH
provides accounting guidance relating to the 0 M ) I BXUOH A% I ) = EH IR
offsetting mechanism and the abolition of 5 o BHE - ZIESIIEEERAH
the mechanism. In particular, the guidance HgttaEef X MELENRE
indicates that entities may account for the Ewm (BB ARIBEN TES
accrued benefits derived from mandatory MPF WERRS)IIEAZEEHRREW
contributions that are expected to be used to BAEHIAL -

reduce the LSP payable to an employee as
deemed contributions by that employee towards

the LSP.

However, applying this approach, upon the A - MEARAE - BIRZEC
enactment of the Amendment Ordinance in ZERNABMERTEOIETERET
June 2022, it is no longer permissible to apply KABAB G ERIZE 1955 93(b)
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of EBRMAITRERE - ZERBE
HKAS 19 that previously allowed such deemed AR EL R A B SR ER
contributions to be recognised as reduction of TRHE SR 7% AR 75 B A B0 HORL (B AR 75
service cost (negative service cost) in the period A s MRz - ZEREMR
the contributions were made; instead these FEMR KRS E=REEBENIRE
deemed contributions should be attributed to HJA o

periods of service in the same manner as the
gross LSP benefit.

The Group has applied the guidance and AEEDEAESITEXRFEEER
changed its accounting policy in connection fReBENEFER - ZESITE
with its LSP liability. The guidance does not have HASEEHRRLEI M E BB
a material impact on the Group’s results and THENFERMBERAEEER
financial position for the current or prior periods TE -

that have been prepared or presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M ISR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

124

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BB REEAE0RRES R
AR 2858 (fEFT A7)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BAM B IwEERE 1658 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BFEGFEFEIRAEFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB G ERFEIRUEETA)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

ARG ERETRRE BN BRE
ERIE TR (EFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 21

B G ERE 215 (BETA)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be !

R EEMBRELEAN(EEM
B S 2R ) REMEET A ()

ERTEMRERNEBUBREERN (S
HEN,
AEEVERFEAATEETERAE
MH)BBPHREERNAEFTA)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'
WEEHEBRE ARG ELECHANEELENTE!

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

FiEMER 2 HEBE?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)?

BESERRBDIGERBD REERE
E5(ZT_FF) 2 1HEAEF]?

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

s e IR B B (R

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

HIERE R & L P2

Lack of Exchangeability®
TRZ Al H s

RFFE RIS 2 R 2 FEHMMAER -

determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RZZZNF—A B 2B ZFEEH
2024. FIAER

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 8 REZEZRF—A—H2&HRZFER
2025. FEAE AR ©

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the results and the financial position

of the Group.

ARREFER  ERMBEEVWHRSE
EFICCHRES RS- SETE 3-95483)
BIRRELEATE -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. Details of
fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

UGSV BRRNVEERERET
BRE#

3.1

RRESUBHRROERE

RAEPBRRDIBEREGTQ
SROGNBEVBREEARH -
AN - ERE M RR BRI
ZFETMRAREERRROIRE 2
ERAWE -

FE VBB RBEE LR AEER
8 o

JE SE RS — ARAR IR /5 S A 78 am B iR
BmREZKEAFENE -

AFERNFERRMHELEEL
BRAFRXHHE—HEER IR
ZERIEFAEREIN2E
& MTm%ERETEREE
HEM S -G ETDEME - AF
B EZFBER T XSS BER
Sl pusty
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of these
elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

RAEGEUBRRNEERERES
BERER ('

3.2

EXEFHREN (&)

HEREE)
BEkHEME2AKRESEEBRA
REBEAA - BRI 2HEKELRE
BERARBEEA -

HWERE - MEBARZMBE®RERE
THE UFEESHABRRELAEH
PIRZEstBR— -

BEASERERRZERZH M
EEEARRRMMNEERAE - K
- WARSTHARR @ IRENER
BARKRR TS H -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a
customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations
in the contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to
the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as)
the entity satisfies a performance
obligation

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred
to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially same.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue
is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o The Group’s performance creates and
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created and
enhanced; or

° The Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct goods or services.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer, excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties and
discounts.

RAEGEUBRRNEERERET

BEREF ()
32 EAXRSTHERERGE
BEFEXZ W ()
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. ZNe LI OR 23 E TR
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing
goods or services to a customer, the Group
determines whether the nature of its promise
is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group
is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e.
the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the
specified good or service before that good or
service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the
specified good or service by another party.
In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another
party before that good or service is transferred to
the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for specified goods or services to be
provided by the other party.

The Group recognises revenue from (i) sales of
diesel; (ii) provision of fleet cards service; (iii)
sales of lubricant oil and (iv) sales of others.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Sales of diesel, lubricant oil and others

Revenue from sales of diesel, lubricant oil and
others are recognised when goods are delivered
to location specified by the customers and
accepted by the customers, which is the point of
time the customer has the ability to direct the use
of the products and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits of the products.

Provision of fleet cards service

Revenue from provision of fleet cards service is
recognised on a net basis, based on difference
between gross proceeds received and receivables
from fleet card holders and gross amounts paid
and payable to petroleum supplier, when fleet card
holders purchase petroleum from a petroleum
supplier.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease, at inception of the contract.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding lease liability with respect to
all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less) and
leases of low value assets. For these leases,
the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern
in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-
substance fixed payments);

o variable lease payments that depend on
an index or rate, initially measured using
the index or rate at the commencement
date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability (using the effective interest
method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use asset) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using revised
discount rate.

a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments and using a
revised discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate
line in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial
measurement of the corresponding lease
liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs
less lease incentives received. Whenever the
Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site
on which it is located or restore the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised
and measured under HKAS 37 Provision,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
The costs are included in the related right-of-
use asset, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. They are depreciated over the
shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership
of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-
of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of
the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at
the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

When the Group obtains ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term upon exercising purchase options, the cost
of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss
are transferred to property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9”) and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group applies HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset
is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss as described in the “impairment
losses on tangible assets” policy.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEGESHBEHRNEEREASH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BURER ()

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2  Material accounting policy information 32 EBAEHEXERGE

(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)

The Group as lessee (Continued) KEFERFAAN (B)

Lease modification MEEE]

The Group accounts for a lease modification as WEIRATIER NEBRBHEEE

a separate lease if: FIER—IEEREEANRK:

. the modification increases the scope of . ZABETRBIE N —IH Z1E
the lease by adding the right to use one B EERNSRENMER
or more underlying assets; and THEHE: &

. the consideration for the lease increases . HERBENNHSEMRER
by an amount commensurate with the BARSE S EHNEFER -
stand-alone price for the increase in NERRBREESLDBIBR
scope and any appropriate adjustments HEBERETHNEMES
to that stand-alone price to reflect the FHEE o

circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted HRMER—IBEEHE ARNME
for a separate lease, the Group remeasures the B85 AEERBKEITHER
lease liability based on the lease term of the HEPEFERERE  EIE7]
modified lease by discounting the revised lease B ERALIERTREIR R E LB ET
payments using a revised discount rate at the MEFFEITIAE o

effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement AEEFREARAERAREEEET
of lease liabilities by making corresponding HEAZRKHEEABNERTEA
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. B
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

The Group enters into lease agreements as a
lessor with respect to its investment properties.
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-
lease components, the Group applies HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to
allocate the consideration under the contract to
each component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification
of each element as a finance or an operating
lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which
case the entire lease is classified as an operating
lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
that is accounted for as an operating lease
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for
as property, plant and equipment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them and
that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as a deduction
from the carrying amount of the relevant asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

The Group has the defined benefit plan of LSP
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of
future benefit is determined after deducting
the negative service cost arising from the
accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested
with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is
based on the projected unit credit method.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit
plans, which comprise actuarial gains and
losses, and the effect of any asset ceiling
(excluding interest), are recognised immediately
in other comprehensive income. Net interest
expense for the period is determined by
applying the discount rate used to measure the
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the
reporting period to the then net defined benefit
liability, taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit liability during the period. Net
interest expense and other expenses related to
defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or
loss.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries,
annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in
exchange for that service.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of
current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit before tax as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the other
comprehensive income because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on the tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax
for leasing transactions in which the Group
recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities,
the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including
buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings

For payments of ownership interest of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire property is presented as
property, plant and equipment of the Group
when the payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the leasehold land and building
elements.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Owned investment properties are initially
measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of investment properties over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment
becomes an investment property when there is
a change in use, transfers between investment
property, and property, plant and equipment do
not change the carrying amount of the property
transferred and they do not change the cost
of that property for measurement or disclosure
purposes under cost model.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating
unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of
CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of CGUs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or the CGU) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net
realisable value of inventories represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position
include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand
and demand deposits; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of
short-term (generally with original maturity
of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist
of cash and cash equivalents, as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is stated on the
statement of financial position of the Company at
cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised in profit of loss
and is included in the “Other income” line item.

Financial assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised
cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets. The classification of
financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model
for managing them.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

The Group measures financial assets
subsequently at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method and are subject to impairment.

Impairment of financial assets and other items
Ssubject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

RAEGEUBRRNEERERET
BEREF ()

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2  Material accounting policy information BAEHBRERGE)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) BB IA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) B & E (&)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECL, unless when there has a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increase in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

° existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2  Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

(Continued)

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk
on other financial instruments of
the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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UGSV BRRNVEERERET
BEREF ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2  Material accounting policy information 32 EARSTBERERE)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) BB IA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) B & E (&)

WRIE BB 1538 &5 BRI E 93 F
TTREFIE B EEREMER
JR1E ()

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

(Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group
assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if (i) the financial
instrument has a low risk of default, (i) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term, and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill
its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when the asset
has external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external
rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing
means that the counterparty has a strong
financial position and there are no past
due amounts.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2  Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

(i)

(Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following
as constituting an event of default for
internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates
that receivables that meet either of
the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the debtor; or

° information developed internally
or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the
Group).
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UGSV BRRNVEERERET
BEREF ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2  Material accounting policy information 32 EARSTBERERE)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Definition of default (Continued)

(iii)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the
Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;
o a breach of contract, such as a

default or past due event;

o it is becoming probable that the
debtor will undergo bankruptcy or
other financial restructuring; or

° the disappearance of an active
market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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RAEGEUBRRNEERERET
BUEREF ()

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2  Material accounting policy information 32 EBAEHEHEERGE
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) BB IA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) B & E (&)

RIE BB 588 &5 BRI E 93 F
TTRERIE B EEREMER

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under

162

HKFRS 9 (Continued) JE1E (&)
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv)  HEEBCE

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

If the Group has measured the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines
at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer
met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except
for assets for which simplified approach
was used.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another

party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination, (ii) held-for-trading, or (iii) designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgement, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of
the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group engages in sales of diesel. The Group
concluded that the Group acts as the principal for
such transactions as it controls the specified good
before it is transferred to the customer after taking into
consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the
goods, and the Group has inventory risk and discretion
in establishing selling prices of the goods. When the
Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group
recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
as specified in the contracts.

Vico International Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2023/2024

BEREHABRMET NABREERNE
ERIR

7 PR MY BEGFT AL #9756 B 2 21 BB -
AAREEANESHERRNE 2HRE
B AR WERESEEEREL R
B 208 - fE RIBR - 55t RABHE
BT IRIEB LA R A BB Ho A
EfEl  BRERTEEANRKEZME
ox

1Eu+li$ﬁﬁﬁﬁjﬂlikiif’ EEITRET © 1

BRHERTMERTER B EIHER BTN
B AEZHREER  HEFTRRZEE
FTEYE B HA R BRI EAR - RIFE(E R ERT
AR Ko R SR HAFE] RERR o

FE A& st B R 9 = Z ) R
TXANFEARBEETRERAREE I
REFH) T 2 HE (T RIES R b5 HIE
RTX) » EHGREWHREARANEER
RBEBENTZERERN -

FTEAHRERE
REBRELMIES - KERZIBEIER
Wﬁﬂ$%.$x EENREBROAR
RARSEFAEGFERBRMANIEEE
Pﬁuu%{ﬁ AEESHERAEREER
FEETEEAN  BRAEERNEPEBEE
MBS EEEm - EASETEREL
EBE - AEBIRAHNFEIAAREETEE
BEFZRERBEREDRA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key source of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The impairment provisions for trade receivables are
based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, bases on
the number of days that an individual receivable is
outstanding as well as the Group’s historical experience
and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the result of the
assessment and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

At 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$46,014,000 (2023:
HK$34,438,000), with accumulated loss allowance
for impairment of trade receivables approximately
HK$1,270,000 (2023: HK$3,572,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the
Company review the carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties
and identified if there is any indication for possible
impairment of property, plant and equipment and
investment properties. The Group has engaged an
external valuer to assist in performing valuation of
investment properties in determining the recoverable
amount. The impairment loss for property, plant and
equipment and investment properties were recognised
for the amounts by which the carrying amounts exceed
their recoverable amounts, in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. The recoverable amounts
of investment properties and property, plant and
equipment are the greater of the fair value less costs
to sell and value-in-use. In determining the recoverable
amount, data such as second hand market prices of
comparables, and transaction costs are used.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
management reviews the carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of approximately HK$123,332,000 and
HK$7,197,000 respectively (2023: HK$70,782,000
and HK$67,337,000 respectively). During the year,
impairment loss of investment properties approximately
HK$318,000 was recognised (2023: Nil). No impairment
loss of property, plant and equipment have been
recognised for both years.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure it will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes bank borrowings and lease liabilities
disclosed in Notes 24 and 18 respectively, net of cash
and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to the
owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the
management of the Group considers the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, issuance of new shares
as well as the issue of new debt or redemption of
borrowings.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

&K | By 1R
AEEEEERNUBREBREEERIGE
CEEERE  FRBRREEBRREA
ERBFHEEREKEBIR - RERTF
B AEBMNEERBERIE -

AEENEARBREFAGEERED N
fiaroa 18 BEMRITEEREERR)
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AE—En  AEBEEBEEEARKA
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BT A
(a) BBIESE

2024 2023
—EMmEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT FET
Financial assets BKEE
At amortised cost R SE R AR 88,779 79,143
Financial liabilities L7igi =R
At amortised cost birg: X1 N 43,248 50,920
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6.

170

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, amount due
from ultimate holding company, time deposit,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables and bank borrowings. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Group is not exposed to foreign
currency risk in respect of HKD against
USD as long as these currencies are
pegged. The transactions and monetary
assets denominated in USD are minimal,
the Group considers there have no
significant foreign exchange risk in
respect of USD.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances (see Note 22) and
variable-rate bank borrowings (see Note
24). It is the Group’s policy to keep its
borrowings at floating rate of interest so
as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposures to interest rates
on financial liabilities are detailed in the
liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of prevailing market interest
rates arising from the Group’s bank
balances and Hong Kong Prime Rate (*HK
Prime Rate”) arising from the Group’s
variable-rate bank borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole
year. 50 basis point increase or decrease
is used for the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023 when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis
points (2023: 50 basis points) higher/
lower and all other variables were held
constant, effects on the Group’s profit
for the year would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$1,000 (2023:
HK$46,000).
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172

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
into account any colleterial held or other credit
enhancements, which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade and other receivables, time deposit and
bank balances. The carrying amounts of these
balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL collectively by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical
credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

For deposits and other receivables, the Group
has assessed whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Group considers that there are
no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. In particular, the following indicators
are incorporated:

o internal credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant change to the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligations

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behavior of the debtor,
including changes in the payment status
of debtors in the Group and changes in
the operating results of the debtor
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6.

174

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group
has tasked a team to develop and maintain
the Group’s credit risk grading to categorise
exposures according to their degree of risk of
default. The management uses other publicly
available financial information and the Group’s
own trading records to rate its major customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are
continuously monitored and the aggregate value
of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. HMBIA@E
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HEEKREREBZERBEGE
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= B 7 B R 3 {8 7712 ()
(Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) A5 [F e 6 1= B R B ()
The Group’s current credit risk grading AEBNRREEERRBRIRIERS
framework comprises the following categories: FEAT &R -
Category Description Basis of
recognising ECL
il i BREHEEFENESE
Performing For financial assets where there has been low  12-month ECL

risk of default or has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and that are not credit impaired (refer to as

Stage 1)
& #) HELNRERES B VT HERARY BEERR 128 AFEREEEE

RIEIE N R I A BB S EE
(D RE—FEE)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a Lifetime ECL — not credit
significant increase in credit risk since initial impaired
recognition but that are not credit impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)

RER BYSEREEFERB ARG MNELEEE S HTREEEEE - &
BENMBEE (D RE B EERE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit Lifetime ECL — credit
impaired when one or more events that have impaired

a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer
to as Stage 3)

E 4 —IRRZEEMHLEMYEEMN B REK EHEHEEBIE -EE
ReREETNTE  KHEEEERERN A
BBEEDRE=ZHER)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris ~ Amount is written off

in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

i€ FHEBBRRRER AR E MG EH#H R EaxCmE 6
755 [ 0 4 E R U [l SRIB A AT A

The tables below details the credit quality of the TRFANZREERBRFT RS EHAK
Group’s financial assets, as well as the Group’s SEMBEENEEREER  LEX
maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk SEEBHEAEERR

rating grades.
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M T A&
B 6 B B B AR R BUR ()

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (Continued)

1= B [ B R el (B 571 (4

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

A& B e = B AR (F)

Gross Net
Internal credit carrying Loss carrying
As at 31 March 2024  Notes | f:1ilL] 12-month or lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount
RZBZWF 128 A2 AL
=A=t+-H Al NHEETR  GEFE REAE - BREG RERE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THT THT
Trade receivables 20 (Note) Lifetime ECL 47,284 (1,270) 46,014
(simplified approach)
B HEWIR (H:t) 2HESBEEEFR (LR
Deposits and other 20 Performing 12-month ECL 2,791 (49) 2,742
receivables
®e REMEKHA 5 128 A RBEEER
(1,319)
Gross Net
Internal credit carrying Loss carrying
As at 31 March 2023 Notes  rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount
RZEZ=F 128 A2 HfE
ZR=+-H M ABEETR  FEER FRELE  FERE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THT THx
Trade receivables 20 (Note) Lifetime ECL 38,010 (3,572) 34,438
(simplified approach)
B SRR (Hit) HREHEEBRRARILE)
Deposits and other 20 Performing 12-month ECL 2,491 - 2,491
receivables
"e REMEKHEA B REAEHEEER
(3,572)
Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the it HEZBEHEME - AEEER

simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The directors of the Company estimate the
ECL on trade receivables and deposits and
other receivables as at 31 March 2024 were
insignificant.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
0% (2023: 0%) and 17% (2023: 10%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest external customer and the top five largest
external customers respectively as at 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2023.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management of the Group to finance the
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management of the Group
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for the non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates. Specifically, bank borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights.

6. MBIAGGE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 ##Z= — T _WF=A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. HMBIA@E
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) EIHEKEERERBERE

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TEEZEE(E)
The table includes both interest and principal 35§T§@*£*'J%ﬁ$ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ§ °
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are i F 2R R F B EH - AR
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived i!ﬁiﬁﬁaﬁﬁ%i&%ﬁﬁj{ﬁ’gﬂ%@ﬁ
from interest rate curve at the end of each RITESH ©

reporting period.

Ondemand After 1 year Total
or within but within  undiscounted Carrying
As at 31 March 2024 one year 5 years cash flows amount
R-Z-m%F RERS —F#% AERRE
=A=+-H R—5R BEREER hEAH RHEE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TET TER TET
Trade and other payables Z 5 R E BRI 8,879 = 8,879 8,879
Bank borrowings RITEE 39,794 = 39,794 34,369
48,673 - 48,673 43,248
Lease liabilities HEAR 792 = 792 790
Ondemand  After 1 year Total
or within but within -~ undiscounted Carrying
As at 31 March 2023 one year 5 years cash flows amount
R-BZ=% REFH —Fi& AERE @
=A=t-H R—%FRN BREX mERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TAT TR
Trade and other payables Z 5 R E b fER A 7,147 = 7,147 7,147
Bank borrowings RITEE 43,773 = 43773 43773
50,920 - 50,920 50,920
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,762 792 2,554 2,527
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E B RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. B % T B (4E)
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HIERKREREBZERBEEKGE
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TEBELEE(E)
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand T LRBDITA - IR ERE
clause are included in the “on demand or E IR ,ﬁ(ﬁ’j’fﬁ{ﬂﬁﬁ AT ANRE RS
within one year” time band in the above —FRIRER - R-F-MNF=A
maturity analysis. At 31 March 2024, the =+—B  ZFROTEENR2ME
aggregate principal amounts of these bank #8/334,369 000/%75(— F—=
borrowings amounted to HK$34,369,000 (2023: 43,773,00087T) ° EEEIARKEN
HK$43,773,000). Taking into account the Group’s IR+ AR jﬁ%wt—"ﬁ” =
financial position, the directors of the Company 1T 5 MBS 4 2 SREN I 5K
do not believe that it is probable that the banks BETK - ARRESMHEFEAR
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand TR R RIRIE S B B ATel a0 Rt
immediate repayment. The directors of the BIRSEMIEE - SEESIMT -
Company believe that these bank borrowings
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the respective loan
agreements, details of which are set out below.
Total
Less than Over undiscounted  Carrying
1year 1-2years 2-5years 5years cash outflows amount
AERRE
YR-F -EWF WERF HENUL it RHE
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
TAL TAT TET TEL TAT FER
31 March 2024 —ZomE
“A=1+-H 4,137 4,103 12,107 19,447 39,794 34,369
31 March 2023 It St
o R d= 10,509 4,092 11,097 24,157 49,855 43,773
The amounts included above for variable interest G FEFENEH BN S WS

rate instruments for non-derivative financial
liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ from those estimates
of interest rates determined at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values
due to their immediate or short-term maturities.

M T A&
(b) HBEREEBRRBERGE

AFHE
ARREERAERA WHRES
PR R B A R B AR B R 2
B A E RS B AR E R
AFENEE - BAXDHRENN
58 -

7. REVENUE 7. o &5
2024 2023
—E-MmE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Revenue from contracts with BERMEREERE155%N
customers within the scope of HEAREEFSHNE
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products RXrEZEnES
Sales of diesel 5 5m 1,511,507 937,700
Provision of fleet cards service TR B B AR TS 33,475 32,434
Sales of lubricant oil HEE B 44,427 36,902
Sales of others 46 H M an 5,674 10,001
1,595,083 1,017,037

2024 2023
—EomEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Disaggregation of revenue by timing  #ZHERERE D Uz
of recognition

Timing of revenue recognition LAt 25 T 5 B
At a point in time S 5 ] B T 2B

1,595,083 1,017,037
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR R MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the goods and advance payments are generally
required.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts

The contracts are with an original expected duration
of one year or less or contracts for which revenue is
recognised at the amount to which that Group has
the right to invoice for the satisfied upon delivery
of goods. Accordingly, the Group has elected the
practical expedient and has not disclosed the amount
of transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
as of the end of the reporting period.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are identified on the basis of
internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM”), being the executive directors of
the Company, for the purposes of allocating resources
and assessing performance.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating
segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as
follow:

(i) Sales of diesel

(ii) Provision of fleet cards service

(iii) Sales of lubricant oil

(iv)  Sales of others

e ()
REBEOE T2 AR -

BHOEEREMRNEET  —RFER

THRESHNBBNEEIZXRZEH

ZEANZEERRRS—FHLIAT - %
REASEEREXNEYRHAZRY
THERRBEZEH - Bt - AEENEE
TRILEBRE  ABEBEOEEHREHR
AET(EHBOARABTIRONEEZXRHE
BT -

2 EER
REDHIREBEETELERRA(EEE
BREND(AARRRATER) RORE
RN FHERE M ENENBRASEAK
BB BV RRER 5 M A8A o

ﬂ%ﬁ% BRIEEBMEHREERELHR
SO AEBEATEFRREE DI

(i) $H & 45

(i)  REBEEERE

(i) HEMBH

(v) SHEHMEMR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 ##Z= — T _WF=A=+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. IHERGE
Segment revenues and results pandl €Y ES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and TXAEAEEZA2HRREEDHEDH
results by reportable and operating segments. Wzt REE DT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_T_NFE=A=+—HIFE
Sales of  Provision of Sales of Sales of
diesel fleet cards  lubricant oil others Total
HERHA REEHRE HEMBHR HEHMEM Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET THT THT THT
Segment revenue iRl 6 1,511,507 33,475 44,427 5,674 1,595,083
Segment results PIEE 5,905 16,522 14,433 2,997 39,857
Other income Han A 2,806
Corporate expenses  (EMT (19,871)
Finance costs BEKAE (1,456)
Profit before tax BRBLAISRR 21,336
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_T_=F=-H=+—HIFE
Sales of Provision of Sales of Sales of
diesel fleet cards lubricant ail others Total
HESH R EHE HEBER HEHMER #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THL THIL THL
Segment revenue DI 937,700 32,434 36,902 10,001 1,017,037
Segment results ITBEE (2,981) 16,106 10,375 3,242 26,742
Other income HepgA 5,331
Corporate expenses PERY (17,661)
Finance costs BEKAE (1,514)
Profit before tax BRBE AR 12,898
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n e IR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in Note 3. Segment results mainly represented profit
before tax earned by each segment, excluding
expenses of corporate functions, other income and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable and operating segment:

2 EER (&)

P L6 E S A )
REDMONEFTHRRARNEE O BR
(RHEESAT)ER - DEERBEETRIEED
B ERER & B B AT A OR 5T R b X Biae A
X B AMBEKAE) o LTI D EEE
BREFHEREMAERLERRAZHN

i -

THEERER

TXRAREER A 28R E LD
BERBEDH

Segment assets DEEE
2024 2023
—EMmE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT FHET
Sales of diesel $HE 5 56,185 40,038
Provision of fleet cards TR B B AR TS 33,784 27,407
Sales of lubricant oil $HE88m 14,445 13,267
Sales of others HEHEMER 43,966 46,528
Total segment assets DEREE 148,380 127,240
Corporate and other assets TEREMEE 124,790 133,576
Total assets BEE 273,170 260,816
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184

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment liabilities

N

N

2023

—E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

Sales of diesel SHESm 6,949 4,432
Provision of fleet cards IR O AR 7S 2,090 1,935
Sales of lubricant oil HE BB 872 419
Sales of others $HE HAME M@ 107 118
Total segment liabilities DEREE 10,018 6,904
Corporate and other liabilities TtENMEMEE 43,129 50,822
Total liabilities weE 53,147 57,726

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

RERDBERRAREDHEIEER

All assets are allocated to operating segment,
other than unallocated property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right-of-
use assets, unallocated deposits, prepayments
and other receivables and bank balances and
other corporate assets. Assets used jointly by
reportable segments are allocated on the basis
of the revenues earned by individual reportable
segments; and

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments,
other than unallocated other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities, bank borrowings,
deferred tax liabilities and other corporate
liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable
segments are jointly liable are allocated in
proportion to segment liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. IHERGE
Other segment information Hitb 5 HE R
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE—F-_ME=F=+—HILFE

Provision of
Salesof fleet cards Sales of Sales of
diesel service lubricant oil others Unallocated Total

RftERE #HE #E

HEXH R BEE  AtER *7E @3t
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Thn ThR TER TER TEn Tén

Amounts included in the FASDENR S HEE
measure of segment profit ~ TBHIEE

or segment assets
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ EREEENRE

assets - - - - 1,749 1,749
Reversal of impairmentloss T RESBREE 42

on inventories (Note) - - (101) - - (101)
Depreciation of property, nE - BERRERE

plant and equipment 1,779 - 52 506 5,852 8,189
Depreciation of investment RENENE

properties - - - - 322 322
(Reversal of) impairment loss & ZERFERESE

on trade receivables, net (BE)FE (2,107) 17 (301) (1) = (2,302)
Impairment loss on EtERTEREER

other receivables - - - - 49 49
Impairment loss on investment X £ ERE

properties - - - - 318 318
Amounts reqularly provided to T ERRETEFZEBREA

CODM but not included in BY RS PERDL

the measure of segment PHEEHENSE

profit or loss or

segment assets:
Bank interest income FATHBMA - - - - (495) (495)
Finance costs BAKA - - - - 1,456 1,456
Income tax expenses FERRAY - - - - 4,403 4,403
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. S EERGE
Other segment information (Continued) Hih 5 EIBER (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_E-_=F=A=+—HILFE
Provision of
Salesof  fleet cards Sales of Sales of
diesel service  lubricant oil others  Unallocated Total

Rt =R HE #HE
HEKH & AEh EftER ADE st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000
TAT TAL TER TET TR TAT

Amounts included in the FAIBENR D PEE
measure of segment profit i BHEE

or segment assets
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FABEENE

assets - - - - 2,129 2,129
Reversal of impairmentloss ~ FERESBEE A7)

on inventories (Note) - - (10) - - (10)
Depreciation of property, nE - BERRENE

plant and equipment 2,102 - 83 22 3,916 6,123
Depreciation of investment RENMENE

properties - - - - 2,464 2,464
Loss allowance for impairment 2 5B ERESEAE

of trade receivables 2,916 253 373 30 - 3,572
Bad debts written off BERM - 362 - - - 362

Amounts regularly provided to  E B T EERERRA
CODM but not included in Bl mF A HERY

the measure of segment PHEAEHENSE
profit or loss or
Segment assets:
Bank interest income RITFBMA = = = = (187) (187)
Finance costs BERA = = = = 1514 1,514
Income tax expenses G5 - = = = 4,102 4102
Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2024, certain long aged et REBE-Z-_MEF=-A=t+—RALFE &
inventories were sold. As a result, a reversal of write-down of TREFEEEH - Hit - CHREFEHR
inventories of approximately HK$101,000 (2023: HK$10,000) #E49101,0008 7C(ZF = =4 : 10,0007
has been recognised and included in cost of sales. TOWET ASHERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of
customers as below:

o EBE R ()
HEER

AEBERFTPHEE N KB INEEP K

mAOMWT -

2024 2023
=E-pmF —F-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Hong Kong B 1,591,524 1,012,025

Macau peaig - 1,100

Vietnam i 1,210 239

Dubai HE 1,833 3,137

Malaysia BRED = 536

Korea EE 360 =

India ENfE 156 =

1,595,083 1,017,037

The Group’s property, plant and equipment and
investment properties are solely located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

Details of the customers accounting for 10% or more of

AEBHME - BFEMREEARKEDE

BUNREE -

IREFNESHR

EAREEBKF10%HIA LT FFEN

aggregate revenue of the Group are as follows: ™
2024 2023
g 112 —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHET
Customer A BEEA 296,141 151,333
Customer B! ®PB! 254,293 130,207
Customer C' ®HC 186,418 2
1 Revenue from sales of diesel and lubricant oil. L REHELH R EE BRI
2 The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10% of 2 HERA R IE AR R B R R T BB 10% ©

total revenue of the Group.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

9.

188

OTHER INCOME

Hftg A

2024 2023
—EomEF S
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Bank interest income RITH A 495 187
Government subsidies (Note) AT 8 8 (F7 72) - 1,003
Gain on disposal of property, LEMZE - BE REREHRE
plant and equipment 1,037 1,583
Rental income from investment REREMFE 2 HSWA
properties
- Lease payments that are fixed -BEEEERNK 1,052 2,457
Others HAh 222 101
2,806 5,331
Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised K : BEZZ-Z=F=A=1+—HLFE X%

government subsidies of approximately HK$121,000 provided
by the Hong Kong Productivity Council to support enterprises
to adopt IT solutions to continue their business and services
during the epidemic.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised
government subsidies of approximately HK$741,000 in respect
of COVID-19-related subsidies related to Employment Support
Scheme provided by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region under the Anti-Epidemic Fund.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised
government subsidies of approximately HK$141,000 in respect
of Phasing out Euro IV Diesel Commercial Vehicles — Ex-gratia
Payment Scheme provided by the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region.

The government subsidies with no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies and recognised as other income upon receipts
during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M B RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

FINANCE COSTS 10. ME/RX
2024 2023
—E-OE —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Interest expenses on: ITEBEHMNERXE
~ Bank borrowings - RITEE 1,431 1,433
- Lease liabilities -HEAaE 25 81
1,456 1,514
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. BHEX
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
Current income tax BIHEAFT 1S %%
Hong Kong Profits Tax BERENEB
- Current year - AFE 4,088 3,351
— Over provision in prior year - BEFEHRERE (468) (29)
3,620 3,322
Deferred taxation (Note 25) IR IE (K1 725) 783 780
4,403 4102

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill
2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of qualifying corporation will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated
at a flat rate of 16.5% of the estimated assessable
profits for the year (2023: 16.5%).

RZE—N\E=A=+—H  BEIFE
BB(CCT—EERBUERT) (B75) &5
BRY(ZER] @ S| AMBRFI SRR
B -ZBERR-_ZE—N\FZAZ+NBE
BERAEE IRBRAESHTE - B
BRAFSHREREE  AEKRARIZE
CHBBITT 2 R ME1%8.25% 7 T R4 F -
BB E B8 T2 % Ai51216.5% 2 Fi &
M o BAFBRBIEFANGTEERE
FIE16.5%M B —HEHE(ZZE_=F:
16.5%) °
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B BRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

11.

190

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled
to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement

of profit or loss as follows:

Frr {8 %458 < (1)

FAMEFRAS THREES
AR ¢

BERAOERBA

2024 2023
—EF_NmF -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT

Profit before tax BR A A& A 21,336 12,898
Tax calculated at the domestic income 1EAHATSFE16.5%

tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (ZE=-=%F : 16.5%):TEH

g 3,520 2,128

Tax effect of expenses not deductible A H1Fi B S R T 52 &

for tax purpose 1,817 1,901
Tax effect of income not taxable for BAZRRBANTRIEZE

tax purpose (258) (199)
Over provision in prior year WA FE BRI (468) (29)
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rate MBRFEHBEEHENTE

regime (165) (165)
Effect of deductible temporary RERUNBEEREENTE

differences not recognised 301 590
Utilisation of deductible temporary B SRR TSR 2 A H0A

differences previously not Ty =R

recognised (413) -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not £/ S Al AR FERR 2 B T E 18

recognised (250) (190)
Tax losses not recognised RIERTIARE B 328 96
Tax concession (Note) M EE R Z) (9) (30)
Income tax expense for the year FRMREHRX 4,403 4,102
Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2024, three (2023: five) KiF: REBEE-FT-_NF=A=t+—RHLFE "

subsidiaries entitled tax concession of HK$3,000 (2023:

HK$6,000) for the year.

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in Note 25.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv_\élﬁ\jﬁﬁﬁ% MTJ-E\I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

12.

F R

2024 2023
—EB-mEF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Profit for the year has been arrived at ~ FE R E R 2K GTA) -
after charging (crediting):
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) B2EHEMWE13) 4,096 4,379
Other staff costs: Hih 8 TR
Salaries and allowances e MR 7,535 8,417
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREAFT B R
scheme 321 310
Total staff costs BT A4a%E 11,952 13,106
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B 357 B
- Audit - B 550 550
- Non-audit - FEX 150 150
Cost of inventories recognised as HRAEMAZMTFENAE
expenses (included in cost of sales) GTASHERA) 1,528,311 954,360
Reversal of impairment loss on GFEREEERE
inventories (included in cost of sales) (Gt AS&ERA) (101) (10)
Bad debts written off SRS = 362
(Reversal of) impairment loss on trade & 5 & W ZUIE R (E &5 18
receivables, net (B m)F58 (2,302) 3,572
Impairment loss on other receivables  E h U FIBE R E E5 18 49 =
Impairment loss of investment REYEREEE
properties 318 -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERERENITE
equipment 8,189 6,123
Depreciation of investment properties & ENITE 322 2,464
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEEMNTE 1,749 2,129

2023/2024F 3%  HEBEBRERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 ##Z= — T _WF=A=+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. EEREEMS

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) ESRESTBRAENHE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the RERMNEG(ZZEZ=F : L&)
nine (2023: nine) directors of the Company and KRR EENASEITHRBE T
the chief executive officer (“CEQ”) of the Group BER)ENENHMSHT
during the year were as follows:
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-—ZE-NMF=A=+—HIF

E

Retirement

Salaries benefit

Directors’ and other scheme
fees benefits  contributions Total

#ER BAEN
Eshe  AfER SRR st
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000
TRR TER TR TR

Emoluments paid or receivable in EEHERALARANBAR
respect of director's other services SHEMAMREEEZ NS
in connection with the management MBI &
of the affairs of the Company and its

subsidiaries
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Hui A = 975 = 975
Ms. Tong BT = 975 18 993
Mr. Eric Hui TEREAE = 975 18 993
Mr. Kong Man Ho (“Mr. Kong’) IXREEIEE) = 534 18 552
Emoluments paid or receivable in —AALHEAES(BRA

respect of a person’s services as a FRASREMBARIC ES)
director, whether of the Company o~ FRISE S Ak ERAE &

its subsidiaries
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Wong Chun Man FHREE 120 = = 120

Independent non-executive directors BIFHTEES

Mr. Leung Ho Chi PELEE 150 = = 150
Mr. Tse Yung Hoi (Note i) HEBLEW ) 183 = = 183
Mr. Chan Ching Sum RER LA 120 = = 120
Ms. Ng Wing Sze Vince (Note i) REBLLWHi) 10 = = 10

583 3,459 54 4,096
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

13. EEREEM: (@)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EESRBESTHAENMS(E)
(Continued)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown ERFIRMITESEOM S IR ER
above were for their services in connection with SEEBEEF@EORBMZM -
the management of the affairs of the Group.
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_E_=F=HA=+—HIF
E
Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
fees benefits  contributions Total
Hek EINET
EEYika E il A Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEx TR TiEx
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect EZFHERALNAREKEAR
of director's other services in EHHEMRBECES M5
connection with the management Gl
of the affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Hui RE - 975 18 993
Ms. Tong BRT = 975 18 993
Ms. Hui Wing Man Rebecca (Note i) SEZ L (W) = 325 8 333
Mr. Eric Hui AEREE = 910 18 928
Mr. Kong LR - 524 18 542
Emoluments paid or receivable in —AALHEAES(BRA
respect of a person’s services as a FRARENBARIC ES)
director, whether of the Company orits ~ BRE 2 sk e &
subsidiaries
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Wong Chun Man FHREE 120 = = 120
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Leung Ho Chi PELEE 150 = = 150
Mr. Tse Yung Hoi HEGEE 200 = = 200
Mr. Chan Ching Sum REUR L4 120 = = 120
590 3,709 80 4,379
202320245 % HEBERERERAT 193



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13.
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:
i) Resigned on 1 March 2024
ii) Appointed on 1 March 2024

iii) Resigned on 24 March 2023

(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group
during the year included four (2023: five)
directors, details of whose remuneration are set
out above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining one (2023: nil) highest
paid employee who is neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company is as follows:

ESkEESHE(H)

(@) EERESTHRASHNMSE(E)

Bt -

i) R-T_ME=/—BHEIT

ii) R-T-_ME=ZF—BHEZT

ii) R-T_=F=A_+NABE
(b) EEME

FR AEELEESHFMERR
Ema(—T_=F:ARE="
HFMAFBHARN L - BT —%
(Z2_=F : B)RFEFTHAX
RATBEBEZESTHER ZF
AFBHBOT

2024 2023

—E-MmEF —E=F

HK$°000 HK$’'000

THxT FHET

Salaries and other benefits e kEMmEF 538 =
Retirement benefit scheme RRAEFET B R

contributions 18 -

556 -

The number of the highest paid employee who
is not the directors of the Company whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

HERRBEENRHHMEET N
FUATHMEENABLT

2024 2023
—E-WE ZEZ=F
No. of No. of
employee employee

BEAR B AR

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv_\élﬁ\jﬁﬁﬁ% MTJ-E\I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. ESBRESMEE
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEME(E
There were no performance related incentive HE_T-_NFR-ZF-=F=H
payments during the years ended 31 March =+—HIFE  BERREHE
2024 and 2023. BN -
No emoluments were paid by the Group to HE-_Z-_WER-_ZT-=F=H
the five highest paid individuals or any of the =+—BLEE  AEEHERR
directors or CEO of the Company as an incentive ZEEFHMATRARREMES
payment to join or upon joining the Group, or as SAITHABEZ NS - ERINASK
compensation for loss of office during the years RIMARE B & REV N R AER
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. BEERAH(E -
14. DIVIDEND 14. KA
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary BMER T = HFmARE T imRRRIK
shareholders of the Company during 2024, nor has any BRI S - BMEBHRURNERS
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting BREMKRE(ZEZ=F : &) -

period (2023: nil).

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BRER
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share RARHEAANEBIEESRERREERNT)
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the AR TAEIBHE -
following:
2024 2023
—EEF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Earnings: &an|
Earnings for the purpose of basic and PR &+ & &A% FE R K #5%
diluted earnings per share BH) 2 &F 16,933 8,796
2023
—E-=
Number of shares: RHEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary AR E I E AR K #5E
shares for the purpose of basic and BN 2 B nRE T 9 8
diluted earnings per share 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic HREBE_T-_NER-T_=F=H=
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential +— B IEFE A BTSN S
ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended 31 ELmlk - WEREERFSETGRARE

March 2024 and 2023. FIFEE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B BRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y¥ - BERSZE
Computer
Leasehold Furniture, hardware
land and Leasehold  fixtures and and Motor
buildings  improvements  equipment software  vehicles Total
e #E- ERELR
THEET HERE  KERRE B4 RE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§000
TAL TARL TARL TAL TARL TARL
COoST AR
At 1 April 2022 WZZE--MA—-H 78,263 5,389 4,944 803 17,207 106,606
Additions AE - - 83 = 1617 1,700
Disposals e - - = = (3540) (3540)
At 31 March 2023 and AZRZ=#=A=1-H
1 April 2023 k=Z-=FmA-H 78,263 5,389 5,027 803 15,284 104,766
Additions hE - - 18 - 1,375 1,393
Transferred from investment BB GRANE
properties 64,491 - - - 64,491
Disposals ik - - - = (2,077) (2,077)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=A=1-A 142,754 5,389 5,045 803 14,582 168,573
ACCUMULATED ZitHE
DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2022 AZE-ZFMA-H 11,094 3,508 3481 140 12,046 30,269
Provided for the year EME 2,556 664 535 161 2,207 6,123
Eliminated on disposals MEREHH - = = = (2.408) (2,408)
At 31 March 2023 and \_;__ﬁ A=t-H
1 April 2023 “S-=FNA-AH 13,650 4172 4016 301 11,845 33,984
Transferred from investment @% ERENE
properties 4,991 - - - 4,991
Provided for the year FEREE 5105 641 444 161 1,838 8,189
Eliminated on disposals HEREH - - = = (1,923) (1,923)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-mE=A=+-H 23,746 4,813 4,460 462 11,760 45,241
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=F=1-H 119,008 576 585 341 2822 123,332
At 31 March 2023 R_F-=%#=fA=1+-A 64,613 1,217 1,011 502 3439 70,782
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16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BERZE (&)
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are L - BERREEB NG R A
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated FHNZEGREENENT

useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the term of the relevant lease

HE L RBF HiEEEEEH

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the relevant lease or 5 years
HEEE HBAEERSEHKAFURESE AE)

Furniture, fixtures and equipment Over 5 years

RIE - RENRME BT F

Computer hardware and software Over 5 years

B SR 1 S R A HEiR N F

Motor vehicles Over 3 to 5 years

ittt HR=FNhEF

As at 31 March 2024, the Group pledged its RZE-_NWFE=ZRA=+—H AEEEZE
leasehold land and buildings with carrying values of HERMMEA119,008,0008 (==
HK$119,008,000 (2023: HK$64,613,000) to secure its F : 64,613,000 L) MEE T RIEF -
bank borrowings. AERITEE R TR -

The leasehold land and buildings are located in Hong ZHETHREFMRES °

Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R R MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

17.

198

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BREWE
HK$'000
FHET

COST s
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 m_v__imﬁ B -

—T-_=#=ZRF=+—8"

—E-ZFMA—H 73,267
Transferred to property, plant and equipment EE =% - BE MR H (64,491)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-_ME=A=+-—H 8,776
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RFFERRE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2022 R-ZTEZZFWMA—H 3,466
Provided for the year FREAE 2,464
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=F=A=+—HEK

—ZE-=FMA—H 5,930
Transferred to property, plant and equipment $E& =% « BiE K& E (4,991)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss 1835 AHER 2 R(EE 1B 318
Provided for the year FNEHE 322
At 31 March 2024 R-TE-_WE=F=+—H 1,579
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 March 2024 R-B-_ME=A=+-—H 7,197
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-=F=A=+—H 67,337

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as
at 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$7,200,000
(2023: HK$66,900,000). The fair value has been arrived
at based on a valuation carried out by AP Appraisal
Limited (2023: Prudential Surveyors (Hong Kong)
Limited), an independent valuer not connected with the
Group. The valuation was determined by reference to
recent market prices for similar properties in the similar
locations and conditions and is categorised as level 3
of the fair value hierarchy.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.
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17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 17.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
has transferred two properties with carrying amount
of approximately HK$59,500,000 from investment
properties to property, plant and equipment due to the
change in use, which is evidenced by commencement
of owner occupation with a view to owner occupation.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

BREWE(E)
RBE-_TZ_WNE=A=+—HILFE -
HAARNE  AEBEEBEEEY
59,500,000 ST M E Y £ I B Y %838
BEME  BEREE  AEERBGER
E¥FX B HER -

LR EMEANBHERRATENER
5

Leasehold land and buildings Over the term of the lease

HELHRET RHEFH

As at 31 March 2024, the Group pledged its investment
properties with carrying values of HK$7,197,000 (2023:
HK$67,337,000) to secure its bank borrowings.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 18.

LIABILITIES

(i) Right-of-use assets

RZZE-_WE=A=+—8 ' A&£EC
HHERMEEA7,197,0008 (==
F 1 67,337,000 L) MIREWE - tEAH
IRITEEMER -

FRAEEEREESE
(i) FREEE
2024 2023
—E-MmF —E-=4F

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Buildings BF

664 2,413

In respect of lease arrangement for renting motor
vehicle, the Group has options to purchase
motor vehicle for a nominal amount at the end
of the lease term. The Group’s obligations are
secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets
for such lease.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no
addition to the right-of-use assets due to new
leases of warehouse (2023: Nil).

REEENHELHME - A&
BrEEREENERBURES
HBERE - ARENEENGLE
AHBERHEENTHEEENMAER
TR -

RBE-_Z-_WNF=ZA=1+—81t
FE O MEAFHERERAEFEH
BEE(CE_=ZF : &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 ##Z= — T _WF=A=+—HIFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 18. FERAREERHEEAEE)
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(ii)  Lease liabilities (i) HEEE
2024 2023
—EWNE ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FET
Non-current JEBNER = 790
Current BN &R 790 1,737
790 2,527
Amount payable under lease liabilities HEAEEMNE
2024 2023
—E-WNE ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FET
Within one year —FR 790 1,737
After one year but within two —FREMEA
years - 790
After two years but within five ~ BRFEEETRFER
years = =
790 2,527
Less: Amount due for settlement J& : 121& 8 A HiEE 58
within 12 months (RrEBEETIIR)
(shown under current
liabilities) (790) (1,737)

Amount due for settlement after 121& B2 BIHA4EE 4 %8
12 months - 790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e IR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 18. FERAREERHEEAEGE)

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(i)  Lease liabilities (Continued) (i) HESE@E
The Group has lease arrangements for offices REBRPAE FEEHERAE
and car parks and motor vehicle. The lease RIERERHE - Tﬂ,ﬂéﬁ*ﬂ\?&%
terms are generally ranged from 2 to 3 years with 3F - EFREMEN KR EE
fixed lease payment and no renewal/termination ORISR BE-T-_F
option. The weighted average lessee’s —A=+—HLFE  #HARHAE
incremental borrowing rates applied to the lease AEMNINETERBALEERESF
liabilities was 2.4% per annum (2023: 2.4% per FRE2A%(ZE-ZF  FFI=R
annum) for the year ended 31 March 2024. 2.4%) °
During the year ended 31 March 2024, no REBE_ZE-_NF=A=+—A81
addition to the lease liabilities due to new leases FE - ﬁ%ﬂl%ﬂﬂ%ﬁ}ﬁﬁﬁfﬂfﬁ
of warehouses (2023: Nil). BECE==F 8\ -

(ili)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) BEABRIELE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

Depreciation expense on right- {#AEEEFER
of-use assets

- Buildings -g¥F 1,749 1,781

— Motor vehicle -AE - 348
Interest expense on lease HEBENSAX

liabilities 25 81
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 18.

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(iv) Others

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$1,762,000 (2023: HK$2,015,000).

ERREEREESEE)

(iv) Hfb
BE_ZTZ_mWH&F=A=+—8H
HFE HERETHALHEY
51,762,000 T(Z T =4 :
2,015,000 7T) °

19. INVENTORIES 19. #FE
2024 2023
—EomEF —T-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Raw materials R 572 395
Finished goods SIRK o 11,030 10,161
11,602 10,556

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s inventories were net of impairment provisions
of approximately HK$ nil (2023: HK$101,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, inventories
of approximately HK$101,000 (2023: HK$10,000)
which was fully impaired in prior years were sold at a
consideration above HK$101,000 (2023: HK$10,000).
As a result, reversal of impairment on inventories of
approximately HK$101,000 (2023: HK$10,000) was
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv_\élﬁ\jﬁﬁﬁ% MTJ-E\I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZRHEHMEWRNRE
2024 2023
—E_EF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Trade receivables B 5 RYRIE 47,284 38,010
Less: allowance for impairment of trade 3 : & 5 & U 1 18 o (B
receivables (1,270) (8,572)
46,014 34,438
Trade deposits paid BENESZE 41,343 29,998
Deposits and prepayments & RIE IR 438 482
Receivables due from suppliers FE U A FE B RIR 2,602 2,328
44,383 32,808
Less: allowance for impairment of other J& : H th J& U ZR I8 i (B B 1
receivables (49) -
44,334 32,808
90,348 67,246
As at 31 March 2024, the gross amount of trade RZE-_ME=A=+—"H " BEF &Y
receivables arising from contracts with customers EA 2B S EBGRIRBEEL) /47,284,000
amounted to approximately HK$47,284,000 (2023: BIL(ZEZ =% : 38,010,000/ 7T) °
HK$38,010,000).
The Group allows an average credit period of 15 to AEBMEZZEFPRHEFHENFI15230
30 days (2023: 15 to 30 days) to its trade customers. A(ZZE =% : 15230H)N{=EH - T
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables N RN EwERRBREREEAREREEARES
presented based on the invoice date, which approximates R B HEE) 230 E 5 EBGRIERE S
the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of e

the reporting period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

20.

204

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

20.

B2 RHEMBWREGE

2024 2023

—E-mEF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TFET

0 to 30 days 0% 30H 41,945 32,559
31 to 60 days 31%60H 495 348
61 to 90 days 61%£90H 33 19
Over 90 days H#®I0H 3,541 1,512
46,014 34,438

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of
its customers and credit limits based on payment
history and the customer’s current credit-worthiness,
as determined by the review of their current credit
information. The Group continuously monitors
collections and payments from its customers.

The Group has policy regarding impairment losses on
trade receivables. The Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL
on trade receivables are assessed by using a provision
matrix based on the credit risk characteristic and the
ageing of trade receivables. The Group considers the
historical observed default rates of the debtors with
the study of other corporates’ default and recovery
data from international credit-rating agencies including
Moody’s and adjusts for forward looking factors in
calculating the ECL rates.

In the opinion of the Directors, the trade receivables
at the end of the reporting period which have been
past due over 90 days are not considered as in default
based on good repayment records for those customers
and continuous business relationship with the Group.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables
based on individually significant customer or the aging

20.

Z R H W E (&)

iz

g

AEEZBEREREHREEERNTSER
AEESRUENEBEERERE - E5ENK
RENBREEBRLVENE Z RYFIA
F) 1= B R B o 4 N B e B PR BB A B R T LA
Al o RETERBEREERXEK - A8E
BHMRKEEERBEANBREREFR
BENEMARMEDREEIZIREEE
EHRANELBREORLHATEERE
TR TR -

EERR REZXSFEPHNRIFERTH
REASENFERBREE  REBEEHR
BHARIBI0 B M & 5 B R IR I KRR AR
B

AEERBENERTPHEHNTERT
FRENKEK LB ZREFREREH

of customers collectively that are not individually TEHEEEE - AT :
significant as follows:
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
As at 31 March 2024 loss rate amount allowance
InFEFIg
R-ZB-ZOmME=A=+—H AHEEE REAAE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Not pass due SR HA 2.2% 41,756 911
30 days, past due #EI30H 5.5% 1,164 64
31 to 60 days, past due #HIB1E60H 5.6% 525 30
61 to 90 days, past due #HEIG1E90H 6.0% 35 2
Over 90 days, past due # B B90H 6.9% 3,804 263
47,284 1,270
202320245 % HEEFERERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B BRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EBEFREMEWTIEGE)
(CONTINUED)

Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
As at 31 March 2023 loss rate amount allowance
e
RZZE_=F=A=+—H TE B e FREARE R
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Not pass due R HA 1.6% 32,908 541
30 days, past due #HI30H 58.6% 464 272
31 to 60 days, past due #HIB1Z=60H 48.0% 669 321
61 to 90 days, past due #HI61Z=90H 57.8% 45 26
Over 90 days, past due 0 HAER 90 A 61.5% 3,924 2,412
38,010 3,572
The movement in the allowance for impairment of trade B O RSB ERENEEHEHT|MT -

receivables is set out below:

2024 2023
—E-OF —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
At the beginning of the year REF 3,572 =
(Reversal of) impairment losses MBS EBFIEEER
recognised on trade receivables (RBEEER ) RERIE (2,302) 3,572
At the end of the year RER 1,270 3,572
During the year ended 31 March 2023, bad debts HE_T-=-F=-A=-+—RHIFE =&
written off amounted to approximately HK$362,000 was BRI 84 49362,000/8 7T B A IBES TR

recognised on profit or loss.

The assessments on ECL of other receivables and HEfb B Rz MBBEEEEF G
deposits are set out in Note 6. K56 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e IR R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

AMOUNT DUE FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING 21. EWRAKERARRE
COMPANY
Details of amount due from ultimate holding company FEMW AR EAERR A RIFIEF BT -

are as follows:

Maximum amount
During the year ended

As at 31 March 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEFE
R=ZB=+-—8 BeeE

2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-_ME T = kS f Sl — T — — 4
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHT FExT FHET

Max Fortune S4BA 72 59 72 59
The amount is non-trade related, unsecured, interest- ZHRERFESHNE BEF - RERE
free and repayable on demand. REKERE -

TIME DEPOSIT/CASH AND CASH 2. EHER RERBELSEEY
EQUIVALENTS

Time deposit EHF

As at 31 March 2024, deposit with a bank of R-E-_WMFE=A=+—H " REHA
approximately HK$5,791,000 (2023: HK$9,421,000), @i =8 AR RITF 45,791,000/ 7T
with original maturity of more than three months, carried ZT =1 9,421,000/ 0) IR F | R
interest at variable interest rates ranging from 4.25% to 4.25%Z4.40%(ZF =% : 0.01% %
4.40% (2023: 0.01% to 3.95%) per annum. 3.95%)ET 8 °

Cash and cash equivalents RERBESZEEY

The bank balances comprised cash at banks and short- ﬁEﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ@%ﬁEﬁﬁﬁ&%@J Hﬂ HAE=E
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three AU THEBERTER - RNZ2TW
months or less. The bank balances at 31 March 2024 F=RA=+—HBHRIT *ﬁ%% BRI ™%
carried interest at the prevailing market rate from 0.001% FHMENF0001%EIS%(ZE =% :
to 3.5% (2023: 0.001% to 3.5%) per annum. 0.001%ZE3.5%)5 8 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 ##Z= — T _WF=A=+—HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. EHIZRHMEMNKE
2024 2023
—EMmF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBx FHET
Trade payables (Note) B 5 e 5RIA (H52) 275 647
Trade deposits received BWE S 1,503 951
Accrued directors’ emoluments FEETE EE B 400 590
Other payables and accruals E MR RIE R ERTE A 8,204 5,910
10,382 8,098

Note:  The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the

invoice dates at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

sz -

0 to 30 days 0Z30H

RBEHR  REFEHRINEZENK

AR D ITIAT

2024
—E_MF

HK$°000
TiEx

275

2023
o=
HK$'000
FET

647

The average credit period on purchase of goods is from 30
days to 60 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:-v_\éﬂjﬁﬁﬁé‘% MTJ-E\I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

24. BANK BORROWINGS

24, $RiTEE

2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Variable-rate bank borrowings: FEIRITEE
Secured and guaranteed BEAREER 34,369 43,773
Bank borrowings repayable (based on ZERLA T EAMEEZMRITEE
scheduled repayment dates set out (RIBEE KB EE MR E
in the loan agreements): g AH) :
Within one year —FR 3,242 9,518
More than one year but not iR —FETBRRE
exceeding two years 3,298 3,242
More than two years but not BBMFETBARST
exceeding five years 8,563 9,122
More than five years HBidAF 19,266 21,891
34,369 43,773
Less: Carrying amounts of bank W BERSRERRE—FA
borrowings that are not EEREFERERER
repayable within one year from EHRRIRITEER
the end of the reporting period EEBEGHEREBRE)
but contain a repayment on
demand clause (shown under
current liabilities) (3,242) (34,255)
Less: Carrying amounts of bank B ARRERRE—FR
borrowings that are repayable EEVEHBFERERER
within one year from the end of ERRIRITEER
the reporting period and REE
contain a repayment on
demand clause (31,127) (9,518)
Amount shown under current liabilities  FI{ER B & EHFIA (34,369) (43,773)
Amount shown under non-current HIVEIEREN B BRI RIE
liabilities - -
2023202455 HEBERERERAT 209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R R MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

24,

25.

210

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 24. SRITEEE
All bank borrowings were secured by charges R-Z-_MF=ZA=+—H  FERTHE
over certain leasehold land and buildings and EHLAAEBEAEES 5 A119,008,000
investment property of the Group with carrying value BT R7,197,0008 T(ZE==%F : 5}l
of HK$119,008,000 and HK$7,197,000 respectively /£64,613,0007% 7T % 67,337,000/ 7T) K&
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$64,613,000 and THETHWRIEFRIEEMENFLIER
HK$67,337,000 respectively). o
As at 31 March 2024, the bank borrowings carried R-ZEBE-_WNF=A=+—H - RBITEE
interests at HK Prime Rate less 2.5% to 2.8% per annum ?ﬁ?f’%%@ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ L25%%E2.8%
(2023: HK Prime Rate less 2.65% to 2.80% per annum R AARERENERBERNE
and 1 month Hong Kong Interbank Rate plus 2.5%). The 2.65%%2.80% Kk — (@ A EBRITRIZER
effective interest rates of the bank borrowings as at 31 BEMN25%)FE - RZEZWMF=A=
March 2024 (which are also equal to contractual interest T—BENRITEENERFNX(MERE
rate) ranged from 3.2% to 3.7% per annum (2023: from HFEIN T3 2%E37%(ZE_=F : FF
2.1% to 3.2% per annum). FENF21%E3.2%) °
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 25. EEBEEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities NTAERAFERBAFERRNEER
recognised and movements thereon during the current EHTEABEREES)
and prior years:
Accelerated tax
depreciation
INEBIEHTE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZFMWMA—H 1,570
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) REEE R (Bt 11) 780
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=F=ZA=+—HK
—E-=FMA—H 2,350
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) RIBRBR (At 11) 783
At 31 March 2024 RZZB_MF=A=+—H 3,133
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e RS R R R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 25. EEBIEAMEE)
As at 31 March 2024, certain subsidiaries of the Group RZZE-WMF=RA=+—H ' ~AEEET
had aggregate unused tax losses of HK$13,666,000 MiEB A R4 513,666,008 (T ==
(2023: HK$13,193,000) available for offset against future F 1 13,193,000/ 7T) H R BN AT I E R Al
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised RAREEARIR R o R AIFEBIR K G
as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 due to the FHR - MR ZZEZMF=A=+—HK
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses ZTEC=F=ZA=+—HEEEHRIEBEE
can be carried forward indefinitely. ERERER - BB MR L -
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. A
Details of movements of authorised and issued share RARMEEREBITRAZE FFEN
capital of the Company are as follows: ™
Number
of share Share capital
RHOEE [N
HK$'000
FAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each HRREEC.O1E LA T B
Authorised: VERE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, R-ZE-_—_FWMA—H -
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E-=F#=R=+—8"
:%::EEH*E&
“ZE-_WFE=A=+—H  10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BBITREE -
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RZZEZ_FWHYH—H -
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E-=F=R=+—H"
:@:_ FHA—AR
—E-MF=A=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

27. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 27.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial
period of within 1 to 2 years, with an option to renew
the leases after that date at which time all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

REHERH

FEEER[HBEA
AEERBEKLEHELARENE - %F
HE-RUTRENE2F WA EEER
AMARED  EEMAEGRENENRS
E o MEHERENERENK -

AEBBENARARERBRRE BHEFT
VR TR G LS HER WA RIREE
T

2024 2023

—EB-mF ZE=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Within 1 year —FRA 108 1,033
After 1 year but within 2 years —EBERRER 38 69
146 1,102
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv_\élﬂ\jﬁﬁ% MTJ-EI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 28. ZAAQ@EEMRAR
COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-WEF —E=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FHET
Non-current assets EMENEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REWBAREN
"E a 52,036 52,036
Amounts due from subsidiaries I ENGIESE b 85,210 88,235
137,246 140,271
Current assets MEVEE
Prepayments AR HIB 65 65
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFEFEY 145 120
210 185
Current liability mENafE
Other payables and accruals Hith BT IE R
fEZtE H 454 643
Net current liabilities MEAEFE (244) (458)
Net assets BEFE 137,002 139,813
Capital and reserves BRI
Share capital (&N 10,000 10,000
Reserves G @ 127,002 129,813
Total equity MarEs 137,002 139,813
Notes: Bt -
(a) As at 31 March 2024, investment in a subsidiary is carried at (a) RZB-WNFEF=ZA=+—H0 R—HHB

cost approximately of HK$52,036,000 (2023: HK$52,036,000),
no impairment loss in respect of investment in a subsidiary has
been recognised in profit or loss for the years ended 31 March

2024 and 2023.

(b) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and are not expected to be recoverable within the next
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

(b)

A A% & 1 A AR 4952,036,000/8 7L (=2 =

N

% : 52,036,000 )AL - REE-T M
FR-F-=F=A=T-ALFE0RAR
i RN — B AT R E B

HEEE

A E A RFRREER 2R RBHN
BRHMEREREARL T ZBARKE -

2023/2024F

i ERERER AR
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  28.

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

X B B IR O R (4)

Hiet - ()

214

(c) Movement in reserves (c) REE2H
Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R RE BXfEE RIER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET FET FET
As at 1 April 2022 RZZE-=FWMA—H 62,978 74,832 (15,046) 122,764
Profit and total comprehensive income FRHFIREEKSEE
for the year - - 7,049 7,049
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZE-_=F=A=1+-8k
—E--#pNF-AH 62,978 74,832 (7,997) 129,813
Loss and total comprehensive expense FABEREZEMALBE
for the year - - (2,811) (2,811)
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-ME=A=+—A 62,978 74,832 (10,808) 127,002
29. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 29. ERAKEFIHE

(a)

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
The Group contributes 5% of relevant costs to
the scheme, which contribution is matched by
employees. The contributions from each of the
employer and employees are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month.

The Group made contributions to the retirement
benefits schemes approximately of HK$375,000
(2023: HK$390,000) for the year ended 31 March
2024.

Vico International Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2023/2024

(a)

EREMRETE
RNEBRBEBMECEREESR
BMIEETE - KETEMEESRAE
EMmEESHABBETARNNES
BA - ARERFEAMEBRAE
5%KIHE - BEMASMNEEE
R BEEEIREENEIERE
& A1,5008 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 &2 — T _F=A=+—H It FE

29. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Provision of long service payments

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to
long service payments in accordance with the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain
circumstances. These circumstances include
where an employee is dismissed for reasons
other than serious misconduct or redundancy,
that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above,
or the employment contract is of fixed term and
expires without renewal. The amount of LSP
payable is determined with reference to the
employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500)
and the years of service, reduced by the amount
of any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
contributions to MPF scheme (see Note 28(a)),
with an overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee.
Currently, the Group does not have any separate
funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP
obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the
Amendment Ordinance, which will eventually
abolish the statutory right of an employer
to reduce its LSP payable to a Hong Kong
employee by drawing on its mandatory
contributions to the MPF scheme. The
Government has subsequently announced
that the Amendment Ordinance will come into
effect from the Transition Date. Separately, the
Government is also expected to introduce a
subsidy scheme to assist employers after the
abolition.

29. RUKERIEEI(E)

(b)

2023/2024F

RERBESBE
BEEEERGL)  RETHE
MT  BEREEEEXEERD
FABRERESRRSES - 25
BREE ZEEERRECER
WIHREEBLNHE  ZEE
AEfE65ma A - mE R : sk F
B THRNERENEMERES
B -ENERReeBHLERER
% FH ¢ (Fm22,500870) KRG F
B BEASERESFTEIHK
(R M 5E28(a) EE M T RE 2
CREMET  SREENBLRA
390,000/ 7T ° B Al + AKE I HE
RIEMBIESLTHUBITER
fREET -

RZZF-__FXA  BATEER
Bl - 1% & A EUH B X #9OK E #E
Ao BB BRI RE SR 8RR
BIMEHR - IUREEN TEEER
MERE - BB EMERT &M
BRI H AR - Z4 - RHRA
TR TR BRUH 1 HE 7 B 5T 81 A 197 B
Bx-

HE B R AR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

29.

216

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)

(b)

Provision of long service payments
(Continued)

Among other things, once the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism takes effect, an employer
can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory MPF contributions
(irrespective of the contributions made before,
on or after the Transition Date) to reduce
the LSP in respect of an employee’s service
from the Transition Date. However, where an
employee’s employment commenced before
the Transition Date, the employer can continue
to use the above accrued benefits to reduce
the LSP in respect of the employee’s service
up to that date; in addition, the LSP in respect
of the service before the Transition Date will be
calculated based on the employee’s monthly
salary immediately before the Transition Date
and the years of service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting
mechanism and its abolition as disclosed in Note
2.2. The Amendment Ordinance has no material
impact on the Group’s LSP liability for the current
or prior periods prepared or presented.

Vico International Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2023/2024

29.
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30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:-v_\éﬂjﬁﬁﬁﬂ% MTJ-EI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has entered into the following significant
transactions with related parties during the year.

(a) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company
and other members of key management
personnel during the year was as follows:

30.

BB X5 R AR

R A MBREREMBAOMFLNR S R

REERSN » AEBRNF AT EEE

TEARS -

(a) ZEEEEAESHH

HEITIA

FAARRAEFREMBETEEE

EBAEBRFMMT :

2024 2023

—EB-IF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET

Short-term employee benefits %2 HA{E E {2 7 5,133 5,083
Post-employment benefits EEBREET 84 108
5,217 5,191

The remuneration of the directors of the
Company and key management personnel of the
Group is determined by the board of directors of
the Company having regard to the performance
of individuals and market trends.

ARRBERARETEEEEBA
EMFMEARREZTSERMEA
RARTIGBBEREE

2023/2024F 3%  HEBEBRERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(b)

During the year, the Group entered into the
following significant transactions with related
parties:

Related parties

kD) RHME

Nature of transactions

BAES X5 K A ER ()

(b)

Bright Ford Development
Limited (Note)

REERAR DT (HZ)

Sunny Gainer Investment
Limited (Note)

BRI EBEBR DR (M)

HE KRB

HE R B

Lease and interest payment

Lease and interest payment

FAANEEBERBBSTIATE
AR5

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT FHET
924 924

660 660

Note:  Mr. Hui/Ms. Tong are the controlling shareholders of
these companies.

These transactions were carried out at terms
determined and agreed by the Group and the
relevant parties. During the year ended 31 March
2021, the Group entered into several leases
with three year lease terms in respect of certain
properties from related parties and Mr. Hui, the
director of the Group. During the year ended
31 March 2024, the amounts of rent payable by
the Group under the lease is HK$132,000 per
month (2023: HK$132,000 per month) in total.
As at 31 March 2024, the total carrying amounts
of such lease liabilities is HK$790,000 (2023:
HK$2,352,000).
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32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

31.

METBELEEENHEER

TRHFAIHAREREZPMELAR
WES RETPMELRABELSERER
ERARKRASABERNGERERER
A BAREZDAERERNALE -

Non-cash change

FEELEE

Finance
1 April Financing costs 31 March

2023 cash flows incurred

—EC-= ME EEE

mAE—A BemE & R A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TExT THERT THER THET
Bank borrowings RITEE 43,773 (10,835) 1,431 34,369
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,527 (1,762) 25 790
46,300 (12,597) 1,456 35,159

Non-cash change
FREEEH

Finance
1 April Financing costs 31 March
2022 cash flows incurred 20283
—E_ RME BE4X ZT-=F
mA—H Reng BERAK =ZA=+—8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TAET FET FET
Bank borrowings RITEE 58,909 (16,569) 1,433 43,773
Lease liabilities HEEE 4,461 (2,015) 81 2,527
63,370 (18,584) 1,514 46,300

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. TWMARAE

As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group had issued
a letter of guarantee through the banking facilities
granted, to a supplier amounting to HK$4,000,000. The
facilities are secured by corporate guarantee of the
Company.

RBE-_=ZFR T -_NMFE=ZA=+—
B AEEFEAER THRITRER &
HERENIERE - A%4,000,0008 7T °
ZRVERARRZARERIEAER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. ZAATNEEMBATFHE
OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as ARG FEMBRARAIN-ZT_NER_-ZF
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are as follows: Z=F= A=+ —HMFBRART :

Place of Shareholding/equity
Name of incorporation/  Date of Issued and interest attributable Proportion ownership interest
subsidiaries establishment  incorporation fully paid capital to the Company held by the Company Principal activities

BV EEALT
WEAREH R ERAIAH EETRBRERA #RE/RE AOFAFREERELE IEER

Directly Indirectly
E# 3

2024 2024 2024 2024 2023
“RoRE L oo il —F SEORE e

Billion Harvest The BVI 5January 2018 US$11,000  US$11,000 100% 100% 100 100% - = Investment holding
e EBAARESE “T-N\F 0005 11,0005 RARR
—-A1A
Billion Faith Hong Kong 17 October 2005 HKS$10,000  HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sales of lubricant oil
e B4 kS Sk 100007 1000057 HEFRM
TATLA
Carmen Logistics HongKong 19 March 2012 HKS2 HK$2 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provision of
Transportation
services to the Group's
subsidiaries
HEAR {30 Z3-CF 287 2T HASEHBRA
=ZAthA RUEERE
Diamond Decade The BVI 23 January 2018 US$1,000  US$1,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Diamond Decade EERBREE —T-N\F 1,000£% 100057 RERR
i =
Grand Wealthy Hong Kong 12March 2003 HKS10,000  HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sales of lubricant of
$E 3 3E=E 1000087 10,0087 HEFRM
=RtzH
Lion Champion Holdings  Hong Kong 20 December HKS1 HKS1 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Property holding
Limited 2019
BRERERAR 3 iy 3 17 A7 REME
tZAZtH
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33.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are as follows: (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:-v_\éﬂjﬁﬁﬁﬂ% MTJ-EI

Place of
Name of incorporation/  Date of
subsidiaries establishment  incorporation
HEL/
WEARAR R ERRLAH
Panda Champion HongKong 30 October 2020
Holdings Limited
Panda Champion B 303
Holdings Limited A=A
Tien Fung Hong Hong Kong 4 February 2004
Bef B _TEmE
—AmA
Tiger Champion Limited ~ Hong Kong 5July 2018
REERATA Bk Z3-)E
tAEA
Trilion Star The BVI 1 December 2016
fe2 EBAARES 3%
+2R-8
Tycoon City The BVI 28 November
216
B2} ABRARESE —T-F
+-A=t/A

Issued and

fully paid capital

BRTRMRRA

2024

zg-ps

HK$1

187

HK$50,000

50,0007

HK$10,000
10,0007

US$1,000
1,000%7

US$1,000

1,000%7

HKS$1

1R

HK$50,000

5000070

HK$10,000
100007

US$1,000
1000570

US$1,000

1000570

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{Z —Z _WF=A=+—HILFE

33. AAQAAEEMEARFEGE
RAAREEMBRARARZZZE_NFR =T
Z=EF=A=1+—HMHFBEHALT :
(%)

Shareholding/equity
interest attributable Proportion ownership interest
to the Company held by the Company Principal activities
EERLT
BRE/HE AAAFSEERELS IEXR
Directly Indirectly
E# 3
2024 2024 2024 2023
—E-NE —E-ME ZE-ME  Pekdeitd
100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BENE
100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provision of fleet cards
service and handling
sales of [ubricant ol for
the Group's
subsidiaries
RUEHERER
AREENBLAA
REEEANEE
100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Property holding
wEME
100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
RELR
100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
REBR
202320245 % HEEFERERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l_\éﬂji%iﬁiﬁqa

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 HZ - T — & =-A=+—HItFE

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. AQATETEKHEAAFIEE)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as ARG FEMBRARAIN-ZT_NER_-ZF
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are as follows: (Continued) T ZFEZAZt+—HEEBHADOT ¢
(%)
Place of Shareholding/equity
Name of incorporation/  Date of Issued and interest attributable Proportion ownership interest
subsidiaries establishment  incorporation fully paid capital to the Company held by the Company Principal activities
HEL/ EEALT
WEARAR HBH ERRLAS BETRYERK BRE/HE ARAMEREELS IEER
Directly Indirectly
B 3
2024 2024 2024 2024 2023
- |3 - 13 “EomE ZEoNE e
Yee Sing Hong HongKong 1 February 2002 HK$200 HK$200 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Salesof diesel, lubricant
oil and others
e B4 ZTECE 0T 08T HERH  HRAR
ZA-R AfER
Yee Sing Logistics Hongkong 20 September ~ HKS$10,000  HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provision of
2002 transportation
services to the Group's
subsidliaries
b 3] i a3 1000087 100007 HASEHELT
hAZ1H RLEERE
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities RIS BR BRI B A BB BT AER
at the end of the reporting period. B o
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the published results and assets
and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years
prepared on the basis set out in the notes above.

RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

2024

AFEHHEE

TXIEAEERBERTETRFEEN D TIEE
BREERBERE AR TIRE LN ER
gl o

BE=A=1t-HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020

CECNE —EF—— —E-—F —E-FEFE

HK$°000
TR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TAT TET

Revenue e zs 1,595,083 1,017,087 1,369,627 816,374 1,045,348
Gross profit EF 48,339 44,693 43,479 47,163 46,937
Profit before tax R 75 Al Al 21,336 12,898 11,860 22,441 20,937
Income tax expense Frigfif = (4,403) (4,102) (2,691) (4,101) (4,925)
Profit for the year F R 16,933 8,796 9,169 18,340 16,012
Profit and total VIN/NEIEZFE DN

comprehensive income  JEMEEEE T &

for the year attributable 2 E 54258

to the owners of the

Company 16,933 8,796 9,169 18,340 16,012
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RFPBRE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March

Non-current assets

Current assets

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities

FREBEE

mEEE

FRBEE

MENRE

MBEEFE

REERRE
BfE

2024
—EB-NEF

HK$°000
TR

131,193
141,977
3,375
49,772
92,205

223,398

EEREE

R=A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-= g T ZE-ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET
140,532 150,880 117,671 87,642
120,284 117,079 128,235 130,278
3,140 4,097 2,185 1,773
54,586 69,568 48,596 39,362
65,698 47,511 79,639 90,916
206,230 198,391 197,310 178,558
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